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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is a retailer which sells cosmetics products and ladies fashion through
our retail network consisting of 117 points of sale in Hong Kong and Macau,
to provide quality and value for money cosmetics products and fashion apparel
and accessories to a wide range of consumers at cosmetics stores, namely
Colourmix and MORIMOR, and ladies fashion stores, namely Veeko and Wanko,

respectively.

Business Review

During the year ended 31st March, 2024 (the “Review Financial Year”), the Group
recorded revenue of HK$586,710,000 (2023: HK$472,625,000), representing an
increase of 24.1% as compared to the same period last year. During the Review
Financial Year, Hong Kong economy continued to face grave challenges. The
Group recorded a gross profit of HK$259,321,000 for the year ended 31st March,
2024, representing an increase of 12.9% as compared with HK$229,763,000 for
the same period last year. The increase in gross profit was mainly driven by the
increase in the revenue of cosmetics business whereas the gross profit margins
of all segments decreased by 4.4 percentage points to 44.2% from 48.6% for the
previous year. The gross profit margin of fashion segment increased in the year
when compared with that of the previous year, while the gross profit margin of
cosmetics segment decreased. Since the turnover of cosmetics segment represented
a larger portion to the overall turnover than that of fashion segment, the overall
gross profit margin decreased in the year when compared with that of the previous
year.

The Group recorded a loss after tax of HK$40,043,000 (2023: a profit after tax of
HK$5,027,000). Due to the increase in interest rate for bank loans, the finance cost
for the year significantly increased by HK$17,569,000 as compared with that for
the previous year. During the Review Financial Year, the increase in fair value of
investment properties of the Group dropped from HK$19,881,000 for the previous
year to HK$5,324,000 for the year. In addition, the Group did not receive any
allowances and subsidies in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic from governments
for the year whereas the Group received such allowances and subsidies of
HK$16,244,000 for the previous year.
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Business Review (Continued)

Cosmetics Business

As at 31st March, 2024, the Group had a total of 57 cosmetics stores (31st
March, 2023: 56), namely Colourmix and MORIMOR, with 52 located in Hong
Kong and 5 in Macau. The cosmetics business of the Group recorded revenue of
HK$426,537,000 (2023: HK$301,627,000), representing an increase of 41.4% as
compared to the same period last year. The cosmetics business recorded a segment
loss of HK$19,467,000 (2023: loss of HK$1,781,000). In response to, among
others, the growing trend of “tripping north” to Shenzhen as well as outbound
travels made by Hong Kong residents during the Review Financial Year, the Group
have adjusted its sales and marketing strategies, leading to an increase in both
revenue and gross profit of the cosmetics business over the previous year, whereas
the gross profit margin dropped slightly. The persistently high level of rent has had
negative impact on retail industry.
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Business Review (Continued)

Fashion Business

As at 31st March, 2024, the Group had a total of 60 ladies fashion stores (31st
March, 2023: 62), namely Veeko and Wanko, with 54 located in Hong Kong and
6 in Macau. The revenue of the Group’s fashion business was HK$160,173,000
(2023: HK$170,998,000), representing a decrease of 6.3% as compared to the same
period last year. The fashion business recorded a segment loss of HK$3,618,000
(2023: loss of HK$1,437,000). During the Review Financial Year, despite the
decline in revenue, the increase in gross profit margin of the fashion business
maintained a substantially same level of its gross profit as compared with that for
the previous year. As the production resources of the Group’s fashion business
were concentrated in its self-owned plant in China, we were able to control costs
with flexibility. In face of challenging operating environments, the Group arranged
production flexibly, as a bid to reduce inventory level, production costs and

expenses.
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Prospect

Affected by factors such as the trend of tripping north to Shenzhen and the rise of
outbound travelling, it is expected that the outlook for the retail market in Hong
Kong is still challenging in the coming year. With respect to fashion business, the
Group will close down underperforming stores upon expiration of lease as planned,
as well as prudently grasp market opportunities to optimize its retail network so as
to reduce the overall operating loss. With respect to cosmetics business, continued
efforts will be made to maintain and increase revenue, as well as to optimize
product mix so as to enhance profitability. The Group also actively considers
business expansion if ideal shops at premium locations with reasonable rent are
found. However, based on the current trend, it is believed that retail business in
the first half of next year will still be in a stage of adjustment. Apart from physical
stores, the Group will also continue to collaborate with well-known e-commerce
platforms such as Tmall Global, JD.com and Douyin Shop, etc, committing to both
online and offline businesses to enhance its brand awareness and expand customer
base.

The Group is principally engaged in cosmetics and fashion retail businesses,
and also holds investment properties and self-occupied properties. Based on the
valuation conducted by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited and Jones Lang LaSalle
Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited, independent qualified professional
valuers, the valuation of such properties amounted to HK$742,583,000 in
aggregate as at 31st March, 2024. These properties also serve as financial support
for the Group. In addition, the executive directors of the Company had granted
a revolving loan facility of up to HK$350,000,000 to the Group without asset
pledged to show their confidence and support in the future of the Group. The Group
will also continue to manage its financial and cash position prudently. Despite all
the challenges ahead, the Group will continue to focus on its businesses and take
a number of contingency measures, which including but not limited to continuing
to negotiate reasonable rent with landlords, optimizing retail network, enhancing
its product mix, increasing the attractiveness of its products, and stringently
controlling costs and expenditures. We hope the results of our two core retail
segments to continue to grow, and the Group to achieve breakeven as soon as

possible.
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Properties

The Group’s properties located in Hong Kong and Chinese Mainland including
investment properties, leasehold land and buildings and leasehold land outside
Hong Kong. The valuation of such properties as at 31st March, 2024 in aggregate
amounted to HK$742,583,000 (31st March, 2023: HK$738,548,000).

The investment properties were stated at fair value in the consolidated statement
of financial position, amounted to HK$552,651,000 as at 31st March, 2024 (31st
March, 2023: HK$472,456,000).

Certain of the Group’s properties were stated at cost less depreciation in the
consolidated statement of financial position, including leasehold land and buildings
with carrying amount of HK$12,766,000 as at 31st March, 2024 (31st March, 2023:
HK$33,116,000) and leasehold land outside Hong Kong with carrying amount of
HK$2,362,000 at 31st March, 2024 (31st March, 2023: HK$2,584,000). The fair
value of such properties as at 31st March, 2024 was HK$189,932,000 (31st March,
2023:HK$266,092,000).
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Liquidity & Financial Resources

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank balances (mainly
in Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi) and pledged deposits, amounted to
HK$8,537,000 (31st March, 2023: HK$38,097,000) and HK$2,231,000 (31st
March, 2023: nil), respectively. The outstanding bank borrowings (mainly in Hong
Kong Dollar) and loans from two directors amounted to HK$390,454,000 (31st
March, 2023: HK$383,818,000) and HK37,450,000 (31st March, 2023: loan from
a director 13,790,000), respectively.

At the end of the reporting period, the current ratio was 0.29 (31st March, 2023:
0.35) and the gearing ratio of the Group was 1.92 (31st March, 2023: 1.92) which
was calculated based on the Group’s total bank borrowings of HK$390,454,000
(31st March, 2023: HK$383,818,000) and the total equity of HK$203,321,000
(31st March, 2023: HK$200,210,000).

At 31st March, 2024, the Group had banking facilities amounting to
HK$440,950,000 (31st March, 2023: HK$428,449,000), of which
HK$394,967,000 (31st March, 2023: HK$389,002,000) was utilised by the Group.

For the details of the cashflow management of the Group, please refer to the
“Prospect” of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.
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Foreign Exchange Exposure

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency purchases (mainly in
United States Dollar and Euro), which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 30% (2023: 42%) of purchases costs are in foreign currencies
for the year. The management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency risk by entering into forward

contracts should the need arises.

Pledge of Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the amount of assets pledged by the Group
to certain banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group was
HK$570,010,000 (31st March, 2023: HK$508,156,000).

Contingent Liabilities

At 31st March, 2024, the Group had provided guarantees of HK$838,857,000 (31st
March, 2023: HK$702,809,000) to certain banks in respect of banking facilities
granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Staff & Remuneration Policies

At 31st March, 2024, the Group had approximately 870 employees (31st March,
2023: approximately 910). The Group mainly determines staff remuneration
(including insurance and medical benefits) in accordance with the industry’s
practices. The Group also implemented a reward scheme for its staff based on their
individual performance. In addition to their basic remuneration and welfare, some
key employees were granted share options as reward and incentive to enhance their
loyalty to the Group.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to all the
employees for their devotion, contribution and diligence and my deepest gratitude
to all the shareholders, customers, suppliers and business partners for their
continuous support.

Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman
Hong Kong, 25th June, 2024
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2024.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

Review and Performance of the Year and Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A review of the business of the Group during the year and its future development,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” section on pages 5 to 11 of
this annual report, which constitute part of this directors’ report. The financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company is committed to the sustainable development of the environment
and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopted effective environmental policies
to ensure its projects meet the required standards and ethics.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the

businesses and operations of the Group.
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Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company recognises that our employees, customers and suppliers and business
associates are key stakeholders to the Company’s success. We strive to achieve
corporate sustainability through engaging our employees, providing quality
products and services to our customers, collaborating with business partners
(including suppliers and contractors) to deliver quality sustainable products and

services and supporting our community.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 62 of the annual report.

No interim dividend was declared for the year. The Board has decided not to
declare a final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2024.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to its shareholders as at 31st March, 2024 amounted to HK$104,947,000 (2023:
HK$120,340,000), comprise of share premium amounting to HK$211,064,000
(2023: HK$223,654,000), contributed surplus amounting to HK$53,135,000 (2023:
HK$53,135,000) and net of accumulated losses amounting to HK$159,252,000
(2023: HK$156,449,000).

13
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny (Chairman)
Ms. LAM Yuk Sum (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive director

Mr. LAM Man Tin

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong
Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty
Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay

In accordance with article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Ms.
Lam Yuk Sum and Mr. Au-Yeung Hau Cheong shall retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”). Both of the above
retiring directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years which should be renewable for each term of
three years until terminated by either party by three months’ prior written notice.
The non-executive director and each of the independent non-executive directors

has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of two years.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors being proposed for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

During the year and up to the date of this directors’ report, a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined under section 469 of the Companies Ordinance Cap. 622 of
Laws of Hong Kong (“Companies Ordinance”)), for the benefit of the directors of

the Company has been and is still in force.

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Executive directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny (former name: Cheng Tsang Man), aged 67, is the
chairman of the Group. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee and
a member of the remuneration committee of the Board. He established the Group
in 1984 and is responsible for the overall strategic planning and formulation of
corporate policies of the Group. Mr. Cheng has over 40 years of experience in the
manufacturing and retail business. Mr. Cheng was awarded the Young Industrialist
Awards of Hongkong in November 2001 and the Ernst & Young Entrepreneur
Award of the Year 2012 China in November 2012. He is the husband of Ms. Lam
Yuk Sum.

Ms. LAM Yuk Sum, aged 64, is the chief executive officer of the Group and a
member of each of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Board. She is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group, specifically
the merchandising management and design and product development. She joined
the Group in 1987 and has over 37 years of experience in fashion design and retail

business. She is the wife of Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny.
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Non-executive director

Mr. LAM Man Tin, aged 65, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 2nd February, 2016 and re-designated as a non-executive
director with effect from 13th July, 2018. He was a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Board
from 2nd February, 2016 to 12th July, 2018. He graduated from the University of
Hull with a master degree in strategic marketing (distance learning) in July 1996.
Mr. Lam joined Aeon Stores Co., Ltd. in 1992 and has over 30 years of experience
in retail and service industries. He was an executive director of Aeon Stores (Hong
Kong) Co., Limited (“Aeon Stores HK”), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code:
984) from May 1999 to May 2012. Mr. Lam served as the managing director of
Aeon Stores HK from May 2006 to May 2012. Following his resignation from the
board of directors of Aeon Stores HK, he was engaged as a consultant of Aeon
Stores HK until September 2012. Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive
director, a member of each of the audit committee and the remuneration committee
and the chairman of the nomination committee of S. Culture International Holdings
Limited (currently known as TATA Health International Holdings Limited), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1255) from
May 2013 to July 2017. He has been the chief executive officer strategist of Shirble
Department Store Holdings (China) Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 312) from September 2013 to July 2020. He is
also the founding member of the Hong Kong Yau Yat Chuen Lions Club.
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Independent non-executive directors

Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong, aged 75, has been as an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 13th July, 2018. He is also a member of each of
the audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration committee
of the Board. He has obtained extensive experience in property leasing industry
since 1970. From March 1970 to December 2004, Mr. Au-Yeung worked at Sun
Hung Kai Real Estate Agency Limited and his last position was general manager at
the leasing department. Mr. Au-Yeung worked at The Link Management Limited
from December 2004 to October 2008 and his last position was head of project
leasing at the project leasing department. Mr. Au-Yeung was an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the nomination committee, a member of each of
the remuneration committee and the audit committee of EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Jia Meng Holdings Limited), a company listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8101) (which was
delisted in December 2022), from August 2015 to April 2016.

Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty, aged 77, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 26th September, 2019. He is also a member of each
of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Board. Mr. Cheng has extensive experience in trading, sale and manufacturing of
toy products. He has been engaged in relevant business since 1968. Mr. Cheng
worked at various companies, including Nasta (Hong Kong) Limited, that were
principally engaged in trading, sale and manufacturing of toy products between
1968 and 2012.

Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay, aged 71, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 17th September, 2004. He is also the chairman of each of
the audit committee and remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Board. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and has
been a partner of Yeung & Cheuk, a firm of Certified Public Accountants in Hong
Kong for over 25 years. He graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
with a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences.
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Senior management

Mr. KWONG Chun Ming, Alex, aged 45, is the chief financial officer of the Group.
He joined the Group in September 2021. Mr. Kwong holds a Bachelor of Arts in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has over 18 years of
experience in accounting and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwong
worked as chief financial officer and company secretary of Gain Plus Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
9900) from May 2017 to September 2021. Besides, he worked in international
accounting firms for thirteen years.

Ms. WONG Chi Ying, aged 55, is the company secretary of the Company. Prior to
joining the Group in July 1996, Ms. Wong worked in an international accounting
firm for about four years. She holds a bachelor degree in accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. She is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as the share option schemes set out below, during the year ended 31st
March, 2024, the Company did not have newly entered or existing equity-linked
agreements.

Share Option Schemes

2013 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the AGM of the Company held on 30th August, 2013, the Company
approved and adopted a share option scheme (“2013 Share Option Scheme”).
The 2013 Share Option Scheme expired on 30th August, 2023, being the 10th
anniversary of its adoption date.

Upon expiry of the 2013 Share Option Scheme, no further option can be granted
thereunder, but the provisions of the 2013 Share Option Scheme shall remain in
force and effect to the extent necessary to give effect to the exercise of any options
granted thereunder prior to its expiry which remain outstanding, and the exercise
of such options shall be subject to and in accordance with the terms on which
they were granted, the provisions of the 2013 Share Option Scheme and the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
Please refer to the 2023 Annual Report of the Company for details of the 2013
Share Option Scheme.

Particulars of the 2013 Share Option Scheme adopted by the Group are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

No options were granted to the directors or substantial shareholders of the
Company during the year or outstanding under the 2013 Share Option Scheme.
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The following table discloses details of options held by employees of the Group
and movements in such holdings pursuant to the 2013 Share Option Scheme during
the year ended 31st March, 2024:

RILAH
Date of grant

0174179
9th January, 2017

MNF1A9AR
29th January, 2021

2AE1R9A
29th January, 2021

022452R16H
16th February, 2022

N2F2A167
16th February, 2022

fiknsER
Vesting period

WITFIAIRE
2% 1A8H

9th January, 2017 to
8th January, 2022

MUFIAWRE
0451 AR

29th January, 2021 to
28th January, 2024

WMAFIAYAE
2026F1A28A

29th January, 2021 to
28th January, 2026

WNFIRI6EE
05524158

16th February, 2022 to
15th February, 2025

WFIRI6EE
0528158

16th February, 2022 to
15th February, 2027

VIR REER REER REER REER 04
BRITEE 4A18 R it Bt % 3R318
Exercise bl 3] Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed WA
TESE price Balance during during during during  Outstanding
Exercise period per share at 1.4.2023 the year the year the year theyear  at 31.3.2024
NNFIAIRE 0.1832%7 2,500,000 - - - (2,500,000) -
2041788 HKS$0.1832
9th January, 2022 to
8th January, 2024
NUFIAWEE 0.0534%7 16,800,000 - - - - 16,800,000
202651728 HK$0.0534
29th January, 2024 to
28th January, 2026
202651 A29HZE 0.0534%7 16,800,000 - - (350,000) - 16,450,000
202851428 HKS0.0534
29th January, 2026 to
28th January, 2028
2025%2R16HE 0.050677 5,150,000 - - - - 5,150,000
WT5IA1A HK$0.0506
16th February, 2025 to
15th February, 2027
0752R16HE 0.0506% 7 5,150,000 - - - - 5,150,000
229528157 HK$0.0506
16th February, 2027 to
15th February, 2029
46,400,000 - - (350,0000  (2,500,000) 43,550,000

2013F BEARIE T BT T Al (81T 2 IR 1D 42
2 /543,550,000% - HEE R AIRE B HAK
NEEBITIRAL1.7% °

2023F R AT El
BIEAR QT HR2023F9 A11 B RITHMRE
BAFERE  AREEHERRA—IEEH
BRI T BI([ 2023 FHEAR#ERTEI]) - BE
2024F3 A318 - 2023 FRERIEEIRT
BRENAIFET5MA -

REBRM2023 FHBIAE B 2 FBHN
iR M R RE27

The total number of shares available for issue under the 2013 Share Option Scheme
is 43,550,000, represent approximately 1.7% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

2023 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the AGM of the Company held on 11th September, 2023, the Company
approved and adopted a new share option scheme (“2023 Share Option Scheme”).
The remaining life of the 2023 Share Option Scheme is around nine years and five
months as at 31st March, 2024.

Particulars of the 2023 Share Option Scheme adopted by the Group are set out in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.
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No options were granted during the year or outstanding under the 2023 Share
Option Scheme.

The total number of shares available for issue under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
is 251,800,133, represent approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of this report.

The number of options available for grant under the scheme mandate as at Ist
April, 2023 and 31st March, 2024 was 138,834,764 and 251,800,133 respectively.

Further details of the share option schemes are disclosed in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31st March, 2024, the interests of the directors and the chief executive officer
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were
as follows:

RARE BT
a1 REBDH
By HEME ZEREE Percentage of the
Capacity/ Number of issued issued share capital
i Name of director Nature of interest ordinary shares held of the Company
BRE S Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny  AI# A REFEF2A 1,393,347,737
Founder and (Hi7)
Beneficiary of Trust (Note)
EmEA A 185,219,227
Beneficial owner
1,578,566,964 62.69%
MERL LT Ms. Lam Yuk Sum EEXmA 1,393,347,737
(7T 48 %) (Chief Executive Officer) Beneficiary of Trust (K1at)
(Note)
EnfiE A 272,916,013
Beneficial owner
1,666,263,750 66.17%

MiaF : 2% % 1,393,347,737 A& 19 E Silver
Crown Profits Limited ([ Silver Crown ])
Hm A o Silver CrownHIJ& {5 Ty
2 {55 The J Cheng Family Trustf)
EREAFRE  Z2BEIENZR
ABEBEXEERMERZLN
RIGRK B °

Note: These 1,393,347,737 shares are beneficially owned by Silver Crown Profits
Limited (“Silver Crown”). The shares in Silver Crown are in turn held by the
trustee of The J Cheng Family Trust, a discretionary trust, the discretionary
objects of which include family members of Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and
Ms. Lam Yuk Sum.
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Other than disclosed above and certain nominee shares in subsidiaries held by
certain directors in trust for the Group, none of the directors and the chief executive
officer had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31st March, 2024, as required to be recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Other than the share option schemes of the Company, at no time during the
year was the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive directors,
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors

are independent.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in notes 22, 30(a) and 34 to the consolidated financial statements,
no transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance, to which the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company or an entity connected with a director (as
defined under Section 486 of the Companies Ordinance) had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Connected Transaction

The Company confirms that the related party transaction as disclosed in note 30(a)
to the consolidated financial statements is connected transaction that falls under the
de minimis transactions exemption and is fully exempt under Rule 14A.76 of the

Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed in this annual report in
accordance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Name of shareholder

Silver Crown

Well Feel Group Limited
(“Well Feel”)

HSBC International Trustee Limited
(“HSBC International”)

Silver CrownZ 2 & E 21T i% 4 A Well Feel#¥
A - MWell Feel JHSBC International 2 & &
BT - RIEFES REE KD EXVIBIEX
Z#7E © Well Feel 2HSBC International &% B
AR VER Z S i Silver CrownEB RS ZFT A
AARRD P EE R

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests or Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

Other than disclosed above under the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive Officer’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and other substantial shareholders’ interests disclosed in the following
table, at 31st March, 2024, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO showed that the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the directors and the chief executive
officer) of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company.

ARATERIT
a1 RAEABFDLE
EEREE Percentage of the

Number of issued

B EHE
Capacity/Nature of interest

issued share capital

ordinary shares held of the Company

BEn#EAA 1,393,347,737 55.34%
Beneficial owner
Tl (M) 1,393,347,737 55.34%
Interest of a controlled

corporation (Note)
A (KIEE) 1,393,347,737 55.34%

Trustee (Note)

Note:

The entire issued share capital of Silver Crown was held by Well Feel which in turn was
a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC International. By virtue of the provisions of Part
XV of the SFO, each of Well Feel and HSBC International was deemed to be interested
in all the shares of the Company in which Silver Crown was interested.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 45% of the total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier included there is amounted to 20% whereas the aggregate
sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers were less than 30% of the

Group’s total sales for the year.

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued shares) had an interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of
Association, or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the senior management of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are recommended to the Board by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted share option schemes as an incentive to directors
and eligible employees and details of the scheme are set out in note 27 to the

consolidated financial statements.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31st March, 2024 and up to the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this annual report as required under the Listing Rules.

Events after the Reporting Period

Details of the significant events of the Group after the reporting period are set out

in note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Ernst & Young, who
will retire at the conclusion of the AGM and offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor
of the Company.

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as
the auditor of the Company and Ernst & Young was appointed by the Board to fill
the casual vacancy so arising. Save as disclosed above, there have been no other
changes of auditors in the past three years.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman

Hong Kong, 25th June, 2024
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company hereby presents this
Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31st
March, 2024.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are conducted in accordance
with high ethical standards. This reflects its belief that, in the achievement of
its long-term objectives, it is imperative to act with probity, transparency and
accountability. By so acting, the Company believes that its shareholder wealth will
be maximised in the long term and that its employees, those with whom it does
business and the communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs management
of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to ensuring that its objectives are
met. The Board is committed to maintaining and developing robust corporate

governance practices that are intended to ensure:

satisfactory and sustainable returns to shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the satisfaction of
customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Recognising the importance of a publicly listed company’s responsibilities
to enhance its transparency and accountability, the Company is committed
to maintain a high standard of corporate governance in the interests of its
shareholders. The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of

shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

The Company has applied the principles and code provisions in Part 2 of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) as the basis of the

Company’s corporate governance practices.

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with all the applicable
code provisions as set out in the CG Code throughout the year ended 31st March,
2024.

The Company continues to review its corporate governance practices in order
to enhance its corporate governance standard, to comply with the increasingly
tightened regulatory requirements and to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and investors.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiries, all of the directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31st
March, 2024.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines”) for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to possess inside information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by
the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes responsibility
for its leadership and control and be collectively responsible for promoting the
Company’s success by directing and supervising the Company’s affairs. Directors
should take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business and regularly reviews
the contribution required from a director to perform his/her responsibilities to
the Company, and whether the director is spending sufficient time performing
them that are commensurate with their role and the Board responsibilities. The
Board includes a balanced composition of executive directors and non-executive
directors (including independent non-executive directors) so that there is a strong
independent element on the Board, which can effectively exercise independent

judgement.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of two executive directors,
one non-executive director and three independent non-executive directors.

The composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny (Chairman)
Ms. LAM Yuk Sum (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive Director
Mr. LAM Man Tin

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong

Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty

Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay

The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at 31st March,
2024:

EE AE Number of Directors
6

Female
5
non-executive
4 directors
e
Management
3 — EA
FHERTESE Chinese
Non-executive
director
2
HITES
1 Executive
directors &
Accounting
0 ] 1 1 1 1 J
3 BT % FRIE) s 575
Gender Designation Ethnicity Age Group Se%vice Expertise

Annual Report 2024

colourmixey MoriMor O  VOCKO  Wanko




TREARES

Corporate Governance RGpOI‘t

EF HEENENAFREISEFRITE
[BEEEHEEAT -

BREBEXEERMERK LT BRFEHR
S EEEREZHABENS X5 K
B HMEXR,HERERR -

EFERITHRAR

ITRERITRERZEABRESH - XHTR
ERIA T - AREGRIE N RBEER T
BoE -

EXeI RSB ALARRAENERE
EE BMRAUNTEFETSZVERTE
EE20E2E BR2HABEGZEYH
NREERABEAREEFHGEMEL
WREFBRHESSLEHER -

ARBZITBEBEMERLL - BEAR
AZEEEE - RESRERAERHE
T BAERTREESRARZTRZAR
AIROSREE - BARMIRER »

HREEXEERMERZ L ZBBERE
EEBRERT  LAETHIIH - HEKXRF
MELTTSREEEGREREZENF

-

BAFHTES

REZE2024F3 8318 LEE » KRR —
BESTEMRAZHATE  ZEXDIEE
VFRTEEMAF R IBHESEZ
HEERE S SEEACHMEERES
§ °

ARBEEEZBIIFNTESERELD
RAFI BB ARE I 2 E3I L E
BIYMIEL 2 EERAE - ARRRBA/M
BELERTEROEBIAL -

The biographical information of the directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Report” on pages 15 to 17 of this annual report.

Save that Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and Ms. Lam Yuk Sum are husband
and wife, there are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant

relationships among members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There is a clear division in the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
which are performed by different individuals. This ensures a balanced distribution
of power and authority.

Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny, the Chairman of the Board, is responsible for the
leadership for and management of the Board, ensuring the effective functioning
of the Board and encouraging directors to make full and active contribution to the
Board’s affairs as well as ensuring that all significant and key issues are discussed
and where required, resolved by the Board in a timely manner.

Ms. Lam Yuk Sum, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Company. She is responsible for implementing
the Company’s strategy, objectives and policies approved and delegated by the
Board with the assistance of the senior management.

The husband and wife relationship between Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and
Ms. Lam Yuk Sum does not impair the balance of power between the Board and the
management as their duties and responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in

writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Company has at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each independent
non-executive director in respect of his independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
of the view that all independent non-executive directors are independent.
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Board Independence Evaluation

The Company has established a Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism in
November 2022 which sets out the processes and procedures to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board, which allows the Board effectively exercises

independent judgment to better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

Pursuant to the Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism, the Board will
conduct annual review on its independence. The Board Independence Evaluation
Report will be presented to the Board which will collectively discuss the results

and the action plan for improvement, if appropriate.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, all directors has completed the
independence evaluation in the form of a questionnaire individually. The Board
has reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Independence
Evaluation Mechanism and the results were satisfactory.

Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Election

Each of the directors of the Company is engaged on a service agreement (for
executive director) or an appointment letter (for non-executive director and
independent non-executive director) for a term of 3 and 2 years, respectively. The
appointment of executive director may be terminated by either party by giving
three months’ prior written notice.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”), all directors of the
Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years at
the Company’s annual general meeting and any director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the first
annual general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to
re-election at such meeting.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of, and promoting the
success of the Company. This is achieved by the setting up of corporate and
strategic objectives and policies, and the monitoring and evaluations of operating
activities and financial performance of the Company.

All the directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the division of
functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the management. The Board
reserves for its decision on major matters of the Company, including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and

other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operations of the Company are
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management of the Company.
The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these officers for the
implementation of Board decisions. The Board periodically reviews the delegated
functions and work tasks. Prior to entering into any significant transactions, the
aforesaid officers have to obtain Board approval.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company Secretary and senior management, with
a view to ensuring compliance with Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations. Any director may request independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
being made to the Board.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a year and additional
meetings are arranged as and when required to discuss significant issues,
involving active participation, either in person or by means of electronic or other
communication facilities. Schedules for annual meeting and draft agenda of each
meeting are sent to all directors in advance to enable them to have an opportunity to
include matters in the agenda. Notice of at least 14 days is given of a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally

given.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are
despatched to all directors at least 3 days before each regular Board meeting to
ensure that the directors have sufficient time to review the related documents and
be adequately prepared for the meeting. The Board and each director also have

separate and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board meetings and
committee meetings. Draft minutes are circulated to all directors for comments
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final versions are open for

directors’ inspection.

The Company’s Articles contains provisions requiring directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to
effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of directors’ responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings
for directors would be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
provided to directors where appropriate.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the directors received the
following trainings during the year ended 31st March, 2024 with emphasis on their
roles, functions and duties as directors of a listed company:

FZH| I )
Type of Training V'

Name of Directors

Executive Directors
Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny B
Ms. LAM Yuk Sum B

Non-executive Director
Mr. LAM Man Tin A, B

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong B

Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty B

Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay A, B

Note:

Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,

conferences and workshops
B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications

All the directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participating in any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of all three committees are posted on the Company’s website and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited’s website and are available to shareholders of the

Company upon request.

All members of the Audit Committee while the majority of the members of each
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive directors and the list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 4 of this annual

report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of all directors of the Company except Mr.
Lam Man Tin, the majority of them are independent non-executive directors.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
of all directors and senior management remuneration and on the remuneration
packages of all directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is
also responsible for establishing formal and transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of his/
her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance of the individual
and the Company as well as market practice and conditions, and reviewing and/or

approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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The Remuneration Committee held four meetings during the year ended
31st March, 2024. During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee has
performed the following work: (i) reviewing and recommending to the Board
the 2023 share option scheme; (ii) reviewing and recommending to the Board
no bonus payment to directors and senior management for the year 2023; (iii)
reviewing and recommending to the Board the salary packages of all directors
and senior management for the financial year 2024/2025; and (iv) reviewing
and recommending to the Board regarding the remuneration package of two
independent non-executive directors upon renewal of their respective appointment
letters.

The Company’s remuneration policy is to ensure that the remuneration offered
to employees, including directors and senior management, is based on skill,
knowledge, responsibilities and involvement in the Company’s affairs. The
remuneration packages of executive directors are also determined with reference
to the Company’s operating results, the market rates for the position and the
performance and commitment of each executive director. The remuneration for
the executive directors comprises basic salary and allowance. Executive directors
shall receive share options to be granted under the Company’s share option
scheme. The remuneration policy for non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors is to ensure that non-executive director and independent non-
executive directors are adequately compensated for their efforts and time dedicated
to the Company’s affairs, including their participation in Board committees.
The remuneration for the non-executive director and independent non-executive
directors mainly comprises director’s fee which is determined with reference to the
market practice. Non-executive director and independent non-executive directors
shall not receive share options to be granted under the Company’s share option
scheme. Individual directors and senior management have not been involved in

deciding their own remuneration.
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Senior Management’s Emoluments

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the remuneration of
the members of the senior management (other than directors) by band for the year
ended 31st March, 2024 are as follows:

EE AR
Number of
employees

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 4

Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the year ended 31st March,
2024 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of all directors of the Company except

Mr. Lam Man Tin, the majority of them are independent non-executive directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning for directors, and assessing the independence

of independent non-executive directors.
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The Nomination Committee reviews annually the structure, size and composition
of the Board and where appropriate, make relevant recommendations on changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. In assessing the Board
composition and identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out in the
Board Diversity Policy to implement the corporate strategy of the Company. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings to recommend to the Board on the renewal of appointment of two
independent non-executive directors, to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board, to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors, and to consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing for
election at the annual general meeting.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the approach to
achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will review
annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse
profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the
Nomination Committee is committed to diversity at all levels and will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and

regional and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives
that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is also committed to
ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are

considered.
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The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving those
objectives.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board is sufficiently
diverse and effective to complement the Company’s corporate strategy, and the
Board has not set any measurable objectives.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness.

Gender Diversity

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group. The following
table sets out the gender ratio in the workforce of the Group, including the Board

and senior management as at the date of this annual report:

egic B

Female Male

Aok Aok

% )

(N8 (A&

(Headcounts) (Headcounts)

Board 16.67% 83.33%
(D ©)

Senior Management 75.00% 25.00%
(3) (D

Other employees 86.30% 13.70%
(743) (118)

Overall workforce 85.76% 14.24%
(747) (124)

The Board had targeted to achieve and had achieved at least 16.67% (1) of female
directors, 75.00% (3) of female senior management and 86.30% (743) of other
female employees of the Group and considers that the above current gender

diversity is satisfactory.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of directors to the Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out the selection
criteria and process and the Board succession planning considerations in relation
to nomination and appointment of directors of the Company and aims to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy sets out the criteria for assessing the suitability and the
potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not

limited to the following:

. age, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and educational
qualifications, background, and other personal qualities of the candidates;

. effect on the Board’s composition and diversity;

. commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry
out his/her duties. In this regard, the number and nature of offices held by
the candidate in public companies or organisations, and other executive

appointments or significant commitments will be considered;

. potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the candidate is
selected;

. independence of the candidate;

. in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an independent non-executive

director, the number of years he/she has already served; and

. other factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination Committee on a

case by case.
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The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the selection and
appointment of new directors and re-election of directors at general meetings as
follows:

Appointment of New Director

(1) the Nomination Committee identifies or selects candidates recommended
to the Nomination Committee, with or without assistance from external
agencies or the Company, pursuant to the criteria set out in the Nomination

Policy;

(i) the Nomination Committee may use any process it deems appropriate
to evaluate the candidates, which may include personal interviews,
background checks, presentations or written submissions by the candidates

and third party references;

(iii)  the Nomination Committee will hold a physical meeting to consider the
matter and avoid the making of decisions by written resolutions unless it is
impractical that a physical meeting be held;

(iv)  the Nomination Committee provides to the Board with all the information
required including information set out in Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules
in relation to the candidates;

) the Nomination Committee makes recommendation to the Board including

the terms and conditions of the appointment;

(vi)  the Board deliberates and decides on the appointment based upon the
recommendation of the Nomination Committee;

(vii)  all appointments of director should be confirmed by letter of appointment
setting out the key terms and conditions of the appointment of the directors,
which should be approved by the Nomination Committee; and

(viii) pursuant to Rule 13.74 of the Listing Rules, where shareholders are
required to vote on electing or re-electing a director, the circular
accompanying the notice of the relevant general meeting should contain
all the information of the candidates required under Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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Re-election of Director at General Meeting

In cases of re-appointments of existing directors, a meeting will be held to consider
the re-appointment based on the criteria set out in the Nomination Policy.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, there was no change in the composition
of the Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the three independent non-executive directors
with the chairman of which possesses the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting expertise. None of the committee members is a former partner of
the Company’s external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are: to oversee the Company’s
relationship with the external auditor; to review the financial information; to
oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and to review the effectiveness of the internal audit function,
arrangements to enable employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Audit Committee held five meetings
of which the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer attended four
of these meetings. A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year was as follows:

(1) reviewed and commented on audited annual results for the year ended 31st
March, 2023 and unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30th
September, 2023 respectively;
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(i1)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

reviewed the business performance for the year ended 31st March, 2023,
three months ended 30th June, 2023, six months ended 30th September,
2023 and nine months ended 31st December, 2023;

reviewed the scope of audit work, auditor’s remuneration and terms of
engagement and recommending the re-appointment of the auditor, Ernst &
Young;

reviewed the effectiveness of the systems of financial reporting and internal
control including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Group;

reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for financial years
2024/2025, 2025/2026 and 2026/2027;

reviewed the questionnaires issued by the Audit Committee and answered
by the executive directors;

reviewed the cash flow projection and considered the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available source of finance in relation to
its going concern assessment; and

reviewed the connected transaction in respect of the extension of lease of
premises situated at Ground Floor and Cockloft, No. 84 San Hong Street
North New Territories, Hong Kong and the interests paid for loan from two
directors.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the reports on the latest progress of internal

audit assignments and enterprise risk management project.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once without the presence of the

executive directors and the management.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31st March, 2024 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding

the re-appointment of the external auditor.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Employees
Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each director at the Board and Board committee
meetings and the general meeting of the Company held during the year ended 31st
March, 2024 are set out in the table below:

HERY, SRRY
Attendance/Number of Meetings
BRREAFAE
FHZEES REZES® EREER Annual
Z=2 Remuneration Nomination Audit General
EERE Name of Directors Board Committee =~ Committee =~ Committee Meeting
HITEE Executive Directors
BeE kS Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny 14/14 4/4 2/2 g 1/1
N/A
MEFRZ LT Ms. LAM Yuk Sum 14/14 4/4 2/2 TEHR 1/1
N/A
HFHTEF Non-executive Director
M T4 Mr. LAM Man Tin 13/14 iR TEH TER 1/1
N/A N/A N/A
BUINTEE Independent Non-executive Directors
BB L4 Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong 14/14 4/4 2/2 5/5 1/1
B EELE Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty 14/14 4/4 2/2 5/5 1/1
X ELE Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay 14/14 4/4 2/2 5/5 1/1

BEiEREEHIN  TRTRFAEH
TEERFATESREZBERTEBT
FRTEERITTIREH

Besides the above—-mentioned Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting
with the independent non-executive directors without the presence of executive
director and non-executive director during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2024 and
ensure that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and are prepared in accordance with statutory

requirements and applicable accounting standards.

The directors have prepared the financial statements in accordance with the Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Appropriate accounting policies have also been used and
applied consistently except the adoption of new and revised standards, amendments
to standards and interpretation for the first time for current year’s financial

statements.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report, during the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Group incurred a net loss
of HK$40,043,000 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded
its current assets by HK$387,756,000. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance in assessing whether
the Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projection
prepared by management, which includes revenue and expenditure growth of
the business, working capital needs, and the continuing renewal of the banking
facilities. They are of the opinion that, after taking into account the measures
implemented or being implemented, the Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operation and to meet its financial obligations for at least the next
twelve months from the date of approval of the consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2024

on a going concern basis.

The Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, has issued an unmodified
opinion with a “Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern” section in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”. Please refer to the “Independent Auditor’s

Report” from page 54 of this annual report for details.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 54 to 61 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

An analysis of the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external auditor,
Ernst & Young in respect of audit services and non-audit services for the year
ended 31st March, 2024 is set out below:

B ELHER

Category of Services Fee Paid/Payable

FHET

HK$°000

Audit Service 2,180
Non-audit Services

— Tax services 149

— Other professional services 231

TOTAL 2,560

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

Objective and Purpose

Enterprise risk management is fundamental and essential to the achievement of
the Group’s strategic objectives. The Board and the management are responsible
for identifying and analyzing the risks underlying the achievement of business
objectives, and for determining how such risks should be managed and mitigated.
The Board oversees the Group’s potential risks and their respective mitigation
strategies and ensures risk management effectiveness. The Board ensures that the
Group has established and maintained a proper and effective risk management and
internal control systems, as well as reviewing the effectiveness of the systems. The
systems can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk
of failure to achieve business objectives during the Group’s business operation.
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Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee, assesses on an annual basis the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
which covers all material controls, including financial, operational, compliance, as
well as considers the sufficiency of budget with respect to resources, employees’
capabilities and experience, training courses and the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function. Significant issues from internal audit department,
external professional consultants and management letters from external auditor are
brought to the attention of the Audit Committee to ensure that prompt remedial
action is taken. All recommendations will be properly followed up to ensure they
are implemented within a reasonable period of time.

The Company has an Internal Audit Department to handle the internal audit
function. The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit
function and the review result is satisfactory.

Risk Management Framework and Major Tasks

The management of daily operations of the Company’s business departments is
based on the Company’s corporate risk management framework. The corporate
risk management framework addresses four risk categories, including strategic,

financial, operation and compliance risks.

There is Risk Management Taskforce (“RMT”) which seek to monitor the risks of
the Group. The RMT was made up of members of senior management, who reports
to the Board on matters of significance that arise. The RMT reports via the Audit
Committee to the Board. The RMT oversees the risk owners, who are responsible
for inventory management, information technology, marketing and operation, etc.
The risk owners reported to the RMT their involved risks and the planned measures
to mitigate those risks.

. During the current year, the RMT held two meetings.
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. The meetings involved the discussion of the existing risks and measures to
mitigate those risks and the RMT have re-assessed the top 10 priority risks
of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2024.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31st March, 2024. The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as
well as the management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended 31st March, 2024, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also
covered the financial reporting and staff qualifications, experience and relevant

resources.

Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the Company to raise, in
confidence, concerns about the possible improprieties in financial reporting,

internal control or other matters of the Group.

The Company has in place the Whistleblowing Policy for employees of the
Company and those who deal with the Company to raise concerns, in confidence
and anonymity, with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any

matters related to the Company.

The Company has also in place the Anti-Corruption Policy to safeguard against
corruption and bribery within the Company. The Company has a confidential
reporting channel that is open and available for employees of the Company to
report any suspected corruption and bribery.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, there were no non-compliance cases in

relation to bribery and corruption.
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For the handling and dissemination of inside information, a Disclosure Policy has
been adopted by the Board since August 2013 with an aim to provide a general
guide to the directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of information

disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations.

The control procedures were stated and identified in the Disclosure Policy. The
Company has procedures in place to keep information confidential and manage
actual or potential conflicts of interest. The Company has an Internal Audit
Department to handle the internal audit functions, which reports directly to the
Audit Committee and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and also reports
the matters concerning internal control of the Company for the year ended 31st
March, 2024 to the Audit Committee during its regular meetings.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Chi Ying has been the Company Secretary of the Company since 1999.
Ms. Wong complied with the qualification and training requirements under the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31st March, 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed
for each substantially separate issue in general meetings, including the election of
individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions
put forward in general meetings are taken by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and the poll results are posted on the websites of the Company and of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited after each general meeting. Detailed procedures
for conducting a poll are also explained during the proceedings of meetings.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Extraordinary general meetings may be convened on the requisition of one or more
shareholders holding in aggregate at least one tenth of the voting rights (on a one
vote per share basis) in the share capital of general meetings pursuant to article 64
of the Company’s Articles. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board
or the Company Secretary, stating the business to be transacted, and signed by the
requisitionist(s). Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as
set out in the Company’s Articles.
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Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s Articles or the Cayman Islands
Companies Act for shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the Company, please
refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director” which is posted on the Company’s website.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company normally will not deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the
following:
Address: 10th Floor., Wyler Centre Phase II, 192-200 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai
Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

(For the attention of the Company Secretary)

Fax: (852) 2310 9017

Email: contact@veeko.com.hk

Shareholders are encouraged to provide, amongst other things, in particular,
their email addresses to the Company in order to facilitate timely and effective

communication.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly
signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact details and identification
in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as

required by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

Communications with shareholders and investors

The Company endeavors to maintain a high level of transparency in
communicating with shareholders and the investment community at large.
The Company is committed to continue to maintain an open and effective
communication policy and to update shareholders, investors and general
public on relevant information on its business in a timely manner, subject to
relevant regulatory requirements, through the annual reports, interim reports,

announcements and other corporate communications.

The Board welcomes shareholders’ views on matters affecting the Group, and
encourages their attendance at general meetings to communicate any concerns they
may have with the Board or management directly. The Company’s annual general
meeting is an especially important forum. In order to encourage and facilitate
shareholders’ attendance at its annual general meeting, the Company gives at least
21 days’ prior notice together with a detailed agenda. The Chairman of the Board
and the chairman of each Board committees (or their delegates) are available to
answer questions at general meetings.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/veeko/index.htm, where up-to-date
information and updates on the Company’s structure, board of directors,

announcements, financial information and other information are posted.

Constitutional document

During the year under review, there was no change in the Company’s Articles. An
up-to-date version of the Company’s Memorandum and Articles is available on the
websites of the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.



TEERRE

COI’pOI‘&tG Governance RGpOI‘t

B SRIB R BUR

AR R ER A IR R AT EOR AR #E B AR R &
EWZ%@%ZﬁA@%@ - EENAR SR IEIR
ARNRRBREABITERSIEARR
ZHEF) c EREEBEHRRBABRNE
MERKR - HREANRE °

ARREBRIIA T ZERIE AR AR
EITIHERE

(a RDEBE

EmRAAREN [ 2B
EEARARSHEEFNZLSFHE
AR SRR BT By M B i 2o B
HEERXH - BEERRRA
RAW T  EFSHE
E FERBERREMBREE
AR (i) MM ERS : (b)
hHREER(HER) P HHE
BE (BRBE (LT XM
eBE : ROREREE -

ARBOARBAAGER ET
58I 8 #R TE 8 B AE Bk A2 P A8 uk
(www.hkexnews.hk)ZE & °

RBEVBFABIAS - ZXARA (A
AFEOBERT - AE—FF )RR
T AR R O AR RE I B 1) AR R 3F
BRAANRAESRA AL -

b) B|RELTRAUAKEHD
&R E A

AR AR ETAR AR ER
B X A v R B A S (BLAR(E
BREEH  CETHRRFHIES
B REA S (Fl I ZFR KA K
Al -

Shareholder’s Communication Policy

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy to promote
effective communication with shareholders and other stakeholders, encourage
shareholders to engage actively with the Company and enable shareholders
to exercise their rights as shareholders effectively. The Board reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders” Communication Policy and

the results were satisfactory.

The Company has established a number of channels for maintaining an on-going
dialogue with its shareholders as follows:

(a) Corporate Communication

“Corporate Communication” as defined under the Listing Rules refers to
any document issued or to be issued by the Company for the information
or action of holders of any of its securities, including but not limited to
the following documents of the Company: (a) the directors’ report, annual
accounts together with a copy of the auditor’s report and, where applicable,
its summary financial report; (b) the interim report and, where applicable,
its summary interim report; (c) a notice of meeting; (d) a listing document;

(e) a circular; and (f) a proxy form.

The Corporate Communication of the Company will be published on the
Stock Exchange’s website (www.hkexnews.hk) in a timely manner as
required by the Listing Rules.

Corporate Communication will be provided to shareholders and non-
registered holders of the Company’s securities in both English and Chinese
versions or where permitted, in a single language, in a timely manner as
required by the Listing Rules.

(b) Announcements and Other Documents pursuant to the
Listing Rules

The Company shall publish announcements (on price sensitive information,
corporate actions and transactions etc.) and other documents (e.g.
Memorandum and Articles) on the Stock Exchange’s website in a timely
manner in accordance with the Listing Rules.
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(¢)

(d)

Corporate Website

Any information or documents of the Company posted on the Stock
Exchange’s website are also published on the Company’s website

(http://www.irasia.com/listco/hk/veeko/index.htm).

Shareholders’ Meetings

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company
are primary forum for communication between the Company and its
shareholders.

The Company shall provide shareholders with relevant information on
the resolutions(s) proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The information provided shall be
reasonably necessary to enable shareholders to make an informed decision
on the proposed resolution(s).

Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings or to
appoint proxies to attend and vote at the meetings for and on their behalf if
they are unable to attend the meetings.

Where appropriate or required, the chairman of the Board and other Board
members, the chairmen of board committees or their delegates, and the
external auditors should attend general meetings of the Company to answer

shareholders’ questions (if any).

The chairman of the independent board committee (if any) should also
be available to answer questions at any general meeting to approve a
connected transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent

shareholders’ approval.
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(e)

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Engquiries about Shareholdings

Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to
the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor Secretaries Limited, via
its online holding enquiry service at www.tricoris.com, or send email to
is-enquiries @vistra.com or call its hotline at (852) 2980 1333, or go in
person to its public counter at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt
Road, Hong Kong.

Enquiries about Corporate Governance or Other Matters to be put to the

Board and the Company

The Company will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company, for the attention
of Company Secretary, by email: contact@veeko.com.hk, fax: 2310 9017,
or mail to 10th Floor, Wyler Centre Phase II, 192-200 Tai Lin Pai Road,
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong. Shareholders may call the
Company at 2887 0888 for any assistance.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends. The

Company do not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. Depending on the

financial conditions of the Company and the Group and the conditions and factors

as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by

the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be

subject to the shareholders’ approval.
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Ernst & Young RRERTRISETEAN Tel E5d: +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EEHEE Fax{ZH&: +852 2868 4432
979 King’s Road FEIHI795E ey.com

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong Kirti—EE2718

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Veeko International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 175, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st March, 2024, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st March, 2024, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$40,043,000 during the year
ended 31st March, 2024 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$387,756,000. These conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this

matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matter described in the Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern section,
we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report.
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Key audit matter

RIZEFTHENAEEBRREEASE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEFIZEX BERREUREHFIZEFREE(EHER FX)ZHETE
Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets (as defined below)
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We identified the impairment assessment of the Group’s leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery, furniture and fixtures and
office equipments (“Identified PPE”) and right-of-use assets of
retail stores, office properties and motor vehicles (“Identified
ROU assets”). The carrying amounts of the Identified PPE and the
Identified ROU assets as at 31st March, 2024 were HK$5,751,000
and HK$125,486,000, respectively.

REE20245F3 A31 B IEFE » R{EEE D B 5H12442,000% 7T
$:5,783,00087C * AR ERBZEE BERREREHAZ
EAREEZREEREEHEATKEISHE

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, impairment losses of
HK$442,000 and HK$5,783,000 were provided to write down the
carrying amounts of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU
assets to their recoverable amounts, respectively.
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The recoverable amounts of these assets have been determined
by the management of the Group by applying the value in use
calculations of individual retail stores to which these assets belong
using the discounted cash flow forecasts based on management’s
expectations of the market development and the past performance,
where the key input parameters include forecasted revenue, gross
profit margins and discount rates. The outcome of impairment
assessment could vary significantly when different assumptions
are applied. Due to inherent estimation uncertainty pertaining to
the assumptions and estimation required to assess the recoverable
amounts of these assets or the cash-generating unit or the smallest
group of cash-generating units to which those assets belong, we
considered this as a key audit matter.

MHERAE BE N R E I RERM S ~ 14515 °
The relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

AOTREE BN ZEE  BERRBARE#MN 2 ERREEZR
BBz B ETFREAT

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of the
Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets included the following:

. % BEEERFAZEREEZAERREIHZGFE
. Reviewed the Group’s calculation of value in use, and the
calculation of impairment charges during the year;

. BEATABEEZERAEERBETEABOTEREE
. Involved our internal specialists to evaluate the discount rates
used in the value in use calculations;

. A EREEFEETFEEBMERNRRRME(BE
HIAEEBERENENEH (K2 ZHBETEER2BE
=B) HMSERNOAHE BRERKEETE)

. Assessed the assumptions and estimates adopted by
management in the value in use calculations including
forecasted revenue and gross profit margins with reference to
the past performance of relevant retail stores, expectations on
the market development and the future operating plans of the
Group;

. BEAEEEREMERBANERE  EFNERFHEEN
AR AHMEEERABENENTE R

. Evaluated the impact on the value in use calculations based
on the possible changes of the forecasted revenue, gross profit
margins and discount rates applied by the management of the
Group; and

. AR M B RRTPERERDEERBECRETS RS
. Assessed the adequacy of disclosures about the impairment of
non-current assets in the consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

REYFRZ1EE

Valuation of investment properties
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As at 31st March, 2024, the Group had investment properties of
HK$552,651,000, which represented 63.7% of the total assets and
were measured at fair value.
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The valuation of investment properties was determined by
independent qualified valuers (the “Valuers”) engaged by
management. The valuations are dependent on the valuation
method and key inputs to the model that includes judgements made
by management. In determining the fair value of the investment
properties, the Valuers considered key input parameters such
as capitalisation rates, monthly market rents per square foot/
metre and recent transaction prices of similar properties. Due
to inherent estimation uncertainty pertaining to the assumptions
and estimations required when determining the fair value of the

investment properties, we considered this as a key audit matter.

TR BEH R R A VSRR A3 K13 -
The relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RIZEFTHENAEEBRREEASE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RIMREMERBERBZETEFEHE
Our audit procedures in relation to the valuation of investment

properties included:

FHARERMNET BN BT FEMERESN
Evaluated the objectivity, independence, expertise and
competence of the Valuers;

#ﬁﬁﬁ%@%*ﬁﬁﬁ%{}f :
IS EMHEER

Reviewed the property related data, including the capitalisation

BREENMcE - mEAME - TR=E

rates, monthly market rents, discount rates and market unit

selling prices;

TAREEER G E ST hEERMERE NG E
Riﬂﬁ“ﬂ ;
Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodologies and assumptions
adopted by the Valuers; and

HEEGAPBRRARBEYEZLHEFRNKRERSS R
%) o

Assessed the adequacy of disclosures relating to the valuation
of investment properties in the consolidated financial

statements.
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Other Information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do

SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.



BARBERES

Independent Auditor’s Report

BB RS
AE2EE

ATZBRDHGEEYBHRREEIE T
RN IFF R R M G B2 EAHE R
MBS ABRE  YHAREATERZ
REMME c AT REEHBTHER
ER)2E Bz REEMBR - K
TRARABREZAREEFMEMBALE
BRRERE -

PR RA

BRRFRBDKFZRE  BTRRER
REBEFEUETZETBEEREKR
f ARBR o SEERMR AL AT DA B ERFE S ER AR 5

i S TR TR H L B B Bk I A R R T BE R
‘i“,ﬁu?éﬁﬂwiﬁi%ffﬁﬁ E RS MR
FRYEH Z SR TE - RIFBRE 2 88 AR R m]
WIRIEER o

ERARBEEBEERETENES —
R ATREBERTBIEZPITERER AL
WRFFBEAREEE - AR

. MR R A R ERAES SRR T B
WER A ISR FLEKRNERR
Mz B R RBITEZEF
AEHELERE  URESRRE
MBEE 2 BT BE T’EF’%$TTE
EZ%W R BREF AT A 00 & &R
- fBE - BE i/)fz'ﬁ & & R

iﬁ ' _Xé’é%fﬁf\?ﬂ‘ﬁﬁk? |
I ARGEHREARTFMERZER
BRIy AR ERREERRE
FRAR T B B E AR R 2 Bk o

BRI AEEEE - N
ﬂ?é?Z%cﬂiF (EN=R:0Fi2

BEEEZ AR 2 AR
’I'Eé‘%%%‘ﬁf

. FEEEMRASHBREZRE
R ER s E MBI EZ
BERERE -

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the

public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report
is Lam Wai Ming, Ada.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25th June, 2024
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

Revenue
Cost of goods sold

Gross profit

Other income and gains, net

Selling and distribution costs

Administrative expenses

Change in fair value of investment
properties, net

Reversal/(provision) of expected credit
loss for trade receivables

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment

Impairment of right-of-use assets

Finance costs

(Loss)/profit before tax
Income tax expense

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year
Item that will not be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Gain on revaluation of properties,
net of deferred tax

Item that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year

Total comprehensive income
for the year

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable
to ordinary equity holders of
the parent
— Basic (in HK cents)

— Diluted (in HK cents)

2024 2023
et TR THETT
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
4 586,710 472,625
(327,389) (242,862)
259,321 229,763
5 18,034 39,604
(214,516) (189,524)
(68,925) (73,0006)
5,324 19,881
3,381 (128)
(442) (156)
(5,783) (3,089)
7 (34,805) (17,236)
6 (38,411) 6,109
10 (1,632) (1,082)
(40,043) 5,027
60,168 5,843
(4,579) (10,245)
55,589 (4,402)
15,546 625
12
(1.590) 0.200
(1.590) 0.200
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At 31st March, 2024

Non-current Assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Rental deposits paid

Total Non-current Assets

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayment and other receivables
Rental and utility deposits paid
Tax recoverable
Pledged deposits
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Current Assets

Current Liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables and accruals
Rental deposits received
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities
Provision
Tax payable

Total Current Liabilities
Net Current Liabilities
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities

Non-current Liabilities
Other payables
Other borrowings
Rental deposits received
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities

Total Non-current Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity

Share capital

Reserves

Total Equity

Cheng Chung Man, Johnny

Chairman

Lam Yuk Sum
Director

KtaE
Notes

13

15(a)

17
18
16

19
19

20
21

23
15(b)
24

21

25
15(b)

26

2024 2023
FHET FHT
HK$°000 HK$’000
552,651 472,456
18,517 36,352
127,848 81,009
13,157 6,954
712,173 596,771
106,501 93,175
5,969 4,559
5,695 9,209
26,116 30,601
378 176
2,231 -
8,537 38,097
155,427 175,817
30,620 15,443
42,178 44,962
656 1,131
390,454 383,818
78,103 61,383
898 584
274 355
543,183 507,676
(387,756) (331,859)
324,417 264,912
3,523 1,881
37,450 13,790
1,859 2,096
17,756 17,249
60,508 29,686
121,096 64,702
203,321 200,210
25,180 25,180
178,141 175,030
203,321 200,210
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R00E4R1R At Ist April, 2022
REERR Profit for the year
TERERENA : Other comprehensive income
for the year:
NEEfR e Gain on revaluation of properties,
(R ERHR) et of deferred tax

BEENEHEEZEYEE  Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

TERBZEHA Total comprehensive income
for the year
EAREEE 7RG Recognition of equity-settled
BERER share-based payments
BAMZERE Share options lapsed
RUABEIRINBER At31st March, 2023 and
2003%54R18 1st April, 2023
TEERE Loss for the year
AEFEMEENA - Other comprehensive income
for the year:
NXEf hE Gain on revaluation of properties,
(HMBERERE) net of deferred tax

AEENEBELZELEE  Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

REEGR2EHA Total comprehensive income
for the year
ARG ARG Recognition of equity-settled
BERVER share-based payments
BRzERE Share options lapsed
BfikeWit) Dividend Paid (note 11)
RNUFIAIA At31st March, 2024

# ZERBERPEGEEMBRRAERA
B4R A 15 178,141,000 7% T (2023
£ 1 175,030,000/8 7T) °

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

NEER e
fiktae it
Bx  ROEE Property  EXR@E  KNRE iERE Share  ZREE
Share Share  revaluation Translation Special  Statutory option  Accumulated &t
capital  premium’ reserve’ reserve’ reserve’  reserves’ reserve’ logses* Total
(Witw) (Wiw)  (Wite)
(Note (a)) (Note (b))~ (Note(c))

TAL Tk TAL T Fhn T T ThL T
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS$'000
25,180 203,654 87,155 8,675 1,668 4,028 91 (151,40 199,411
- - - - - - - 5007 5,007

- - 5,843 - - - - - 5,843

- - - (10,245) - - - - (10,245)

- - 5,843 (10,245) - - - 5007 625

- - - - - - 174 - 174

- - - - - - (12) 12 -
25,180 123,654 92,998 (1,570) 1,668 4028 453 (146,201) 200,210
- - - - - - - (40,043) (40,043)

- - 60,168 - - - - - 60,168

- - - (4,579) - - - - (4,579)

- - 60,168 (4,579) - - - (40,043) 15,546

- - - - - - 155 - 155

- - - - - - o 3 -

- (12,590) - - - - - - (12,590)
25,180 211,064 153,166 (6,149) 1,668 4028 605 (186,241) 203321

#

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$178,141,000

(2023: HK$175,030,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

Notes:

(a)

(b)

©

The property revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from an owner-
occupied property to an investment property carried at fair value upon the
date of transfer.

The special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate of:

(1) the difference between the nominal value of the share capital of
Veeko Holdings Limited and the nominal value of the share capital
issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition, arisen
from the group reorganisation in 1999; and

(i) the difference between the aggregate nominal value of the share
capital of the subsidiaries when they were acquired by Veeko
Holdings Limited prior to the group reorganisation and the nominal
value of the share capital issued by Veeko Holdings Limited as
consideration for the acquisition.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the companies
comprising the Group which are registered in the PRC shall appropriate
a certain percentage of their net profit after tax (after offsetting any
prior years’ losses) calculated under the accounting principles generally
applicable to the PRC enterprises to reserve funds. When the balance of
this reserve reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any further appropriation is
optional. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses
or to increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve

must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after those usages.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Gains on modification of leases
Gains on termination of leases
Change in fair value of investment
properties, net
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Impairment of property, plant and
equipment
Impairment of right-of-use assets

(Reversal)/provision of expected credit

loss for trade receivables
Provision for inventories
Write-off of inventories
Provision for/(reversal of) onerous
contracts
Share-based payment expenses

Operating cash flows before movements

in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other
receivables
Decrease in rental and
utility deposits paid
Increase in trade and
other payables
(Decrease)/increase in rental
deposits received
(Increase)/decrease in rental
deposits paid

Net cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Hong Kong profits tax paid

Tax paid in other jurisdictions

NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

Hat
Notes

TR

L O

S D

2024 2023
FTHT FHT
HK$°000 HK$°000
(38,411) 6,109
34,805 17,236
(1,237) (782)
(275) (®)
(499) (7,594)
(755) (82)
(5,324) (19,881)
4,879 5,044
93,137 73,321
442 156
5,783 3,089
(3,381) 128
987 6,082
1,421 1,840
314 9)
155 174
92,041 84,823
(15,734) 23,848
1,799 (7,584)
207 10,784
16,396 1,203
(664) 831
(3,467) 1,691
90,578 115,596
(7,778) (2,768)
(599) (552)
(187) (32)
82,014 112,244
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B E2024F3A31HILFE For the year ended 31st March, 2024
2024 2023
Hat THET FHET
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
REEHB INVESTING ACTIVITIES
B U F B Interest received 13 16
EBEEYE  HERKXEER Purchase of items of property,
plant and equipment (6,139) (1,613)
RELHEESE - BEREE Proceeds from disposal of property,

Z W plant and equipment 348 15
BT > 38 1 Increase in pledged deposits (2,231) -
ARREXBNREFHE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES (8,009) (1,582)
MEEK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
HILIRIT R EME R New bank and other loans 231,720 96,500
EERTREMER Repayment of bank and other loans (215,682) (67,298)
FEEOER New import loans 268,117 150,670
BEEOER Repayment of import loans (256,041) (154,150)
HEMRNEAEHD Principal portion of lease payments (93,643) (90,311)
BEAFE Interest paid (27,027) (14,416)
ERRE Dividend paid (12,590) =
ARMEELHN NET CASH USED IN

B&FHE FINANCING ACTIVITIES (105,146) (79,005)
BeRHAELEEER NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN

CRD) B E CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (31,141) 31,657
FHINRERREEEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 38,097 6,640
IEEZSH K EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES (601) (200)
FERNAERRESEEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 6,355 38,097
RERASEEEREHRZDON ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Re RIRTTEEER Cash and bank balances 19 8,537 38,097
HIRTF R Pledged deposits 19 2,231 =
10,768 38,097
BRERITREERmOFR Deposits pledged as security for
banking facilities (2,231) -
RITIEX Bank overdrafts 23 (2,182) =
WEAREREXRMIIESEIES  Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
Z£EIER the consolidated statement of cash
flows 6,355 38,097
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

1. Corporate and Group Information

Veeko International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands and its shares are
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The addresses of the registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company are disclosed in “Corporate Information” of the annual report.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the holding company and ultimate
holding company is Silver Crown Profits Limited, a company incorporated in the

British Virgin Islands, which is ultimately owned by HSBC International Trustee
Limited for The J Cheng Family Trust.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:

- manufacture and sale of ladies fashion

- sale of cosmetics

- investment holding
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1. ATAREEER(E)

B B X Rl 2 E

RRAFEEMBAT ZFFBEOT
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Name of subsidiary

Veeko Holdings Limited

ABHEERAR
Veeko Fashion Company
Limited

Wina Success Limited

RHRECAEDBRAT
Colourmix Cosmetics

Company Limited

Colourmix Cosmetics
Retail Company
Limited

REERBRIZERBR AR
Colourmix International
Holdings Limited

IBEER B REAR AR
(Ktet)

Shantou Huanan Digao
Fashion Company
Limited (Note)

Information about subsidiaries

31 v
Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
operations

RBRLRS,
e
BVI/Hong Kong

5
Hong Kong
B
Hong Kong

BB
Hong Kong

B
Hong Kong

N

Hong Kong

BB A

PRC/Chinese
Mainland

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

1.

Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

BERITRARKE

EESHE=EN

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital

618.563< 7T
US$618.56
2,400,000/ 7T
HK$2,400,000
1007 7T
HK$100

1,000,00078 7T
HK$1,000,000

100,000/ 7T
HK$100,000

10,0007 7T
HK$10,000

20,000,000/ 7T

HK$20,000,000

ARFEEEZE DL

Percentage of

equity attributable

to the Company

HE

Direct

100%

s

Indirect

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

FREHK

Principal activities

wE=ER

Investment holding

RREE

Retailing of garments

ESEEEES
Property holding

ftmRkEERTE
Retailing of
cosmetics and skincare

products

it kEERTE
Retailing of
cosmetics and skincare

products

EST=E/ES

Property holding

PR

Manufacture of
garments
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AR EFEAR AT B, B it
(Hti)

Shantou Yungao Fashion PRC/Chinese
Company Limited Mainland
(Note)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

1. Corporate and Group Information (Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)

ERTRBERE
EESHIE=S ANTEGERASE TEEK
Issued and
fully paid Percentage of
share capital/ equity attributable
registered capital to the Company Principal activities
=% i3
Direct Indirect
36,000,000/ 7T BRRELE R FBME
HK$36,000,000 - 100%  Manufacture of

garments and

property holding

Note: The companies are registered in the form of wholly-foreign-owned enterprises.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the year
or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the
directors, principally affected the results of the Group for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the assets or liabilities of the Group at the end of the year.
To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies

2.1. Basis of Preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA™) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties which have been measured at fair value. These financial

statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HKS$”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$40,043,000 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$387,756,000.

As at 31st March, 2024, the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings due within
one year or contain a repayable on demand clause amounted of HK$390,454,000,
of which the Group breached a debt covenant of a bank with aggregate loans
amount of HK$88,009,000. Such bank did not require the immediate repayments
and the Group has fully repaid the bank loans in April 2024. As at 31st March,
2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of HK$8,537,000.

In view of the above circumstances, the directors have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources of
finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to

continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cashflow projection
prepared by management, which includes revenue and expenditure growth of
the business, working capital needs and, the continuing renewal of the banking
facilities.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

The following measures are the Group has implemented or is in the process
of implementing: (i) in April and May 2024, the new banking facilities
of HK$93,353,000 was negotiated and obtained, and the bank loans of
HK$83,783,000 was drawn; (ii) in June 2024, the directors of the Company
provided a revolving loan facility repayable on 2nd June, 2026 with a limit of
HK$350,000,000, and the aggregate loan of HK$348,000,000 was drawn as
of the date of this report; (iii) subsequent to the year ended and up to the date
of this report, the Group repaid bank borrowings with an aggregate amount of
HK$231,577,000; (iv) on going negotiation for external financing, including
but not limited to, obtaining further banking facilities; and (v) consideration
of potential downside risk factors, working capital sensitivities and identified
mitigating actions that could be taken to further reduce cash expenditure and meet
operating cashflow.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, after taking into account
the measures implemented or being implemented, the Group will have sufficient
working capital to finance its operation and to meet its financial obligations for
at least the next twelve months from the date of approval of these consolidated
financial statements. Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe it is
appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31st March, 2024 on a going concern basis.

Whether the Group will be able to generate adequate cashflows to continue as a
going concern would depend on the successful outcome of the above measures.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may have to
be made to write down the values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31st March, 2024. A subsidiary is an entity, directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.1. Basis of Preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control.
When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on

consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,

without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related assets,
liabilities and exchange translation reserve and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on the
same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2.

2.2.

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first time

for the current year’s financial statements.

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1 and

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Definition of Accounting Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs are described below:

(@)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements,
it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary
users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply
the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures. The Group
has disclosed the material accounting policy information in note 2 to the
financial statements. The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments also
clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and policy align with
the amendments, the amendments had no impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2.

2.2.

()

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that
sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions.

Prior to the initial application of these amendments, the Group applied
the initial recognition exception and did not recognise a deferred tax asset
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences for transactions
related to leases. The Group has applied the amendments on temporary
differences related to leases as at 1st April, 2022. Upon initial application
of these amendments, the Group recognised (i) a deferred tax asset for all
deductible temporary differences associated with lease liabilities (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available), and (ii) a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences associated with right-of-use assets
at st April, 2022, with cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to
the balances of retained profits at that date. Upon the application of the
amendments, the Group has determined the temporary differences arising
from right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. However, they did
not have any material impact on the overall deferred tax balances presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position as the related deferred
tax balances qualified for offsetting under HKAS 12.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2.
2.2.

(d)

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model
Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the implementation of the Pillar
Two model rules published by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The amendments also introduce disclosure requirements
for the affected entities to help users of the financial statements better
understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including the
disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in
the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of their exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted or substantively
enacted but not yet in effect. The Group has applied the amendments
retrospectively. Since the Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar
Two model rules, the amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3. Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs, that have been issued
but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between
HKAS 28 an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture’
Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sales and Leaseback’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or

Non-current (the “2020 Amendments”)"*

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants (the
“2022 Amendments” )" *

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements’
and HKFRS 7
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2025
2 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption
4 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was
revised to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2.

2.3.

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the

Group is described below:

()

(b)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of the
gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2024 and
shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered
into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1st April, 2019).
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have

any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2.
2.3.

()

(d)

Accounting Policies (Continued)

Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and that
only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted
for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are
required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying
with future covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The
amendments shall be applied retrospectively with early application
permitted. An entity that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to
apply simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is
currently assessing the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan
agreements may require revision. Based on the preliminary assessment, the
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s

financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of
such arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows
and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments is
permitted. The amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the beginning
of the annual reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial

statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.3. Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

(e) Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is
lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency not
being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the
cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

2.4. Material Accounting Policies

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.



mE M RRRME

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

F2024F3A31HIEFE

2. EFBEGE)
24. EREEBERE)

AFEETE(F)
FEeMEELATFEEFENFATSZ
HENERRMKEREXERZEERS
ZETRANERSNKEREERZE
EZ5 52 EENEELBEN 2 &
5 o

AEBEFERERANTREBERLABEHA
REBUAFEAFEENBERN - AFR
AT RE(E AR AH B ] B AR B A\ BB S 3R M) RE O
DERTABREARE -

R MRFAEXRBELFEENMBEER
ENAE  OREBEHAFEEFEREM
EBEANKEERGABBZ TARF
BEBRETHIR

F1E — ENEREERREELRE
mEMHRECKTHAE)
F2  — ERUHEEAMEEERFE

HATRENENEBEA
PR K B A A B

i
E3E — ERTAERFBIHATE

BEFfEMEBEBEANRIEE
R A BB S ERM

AR BHRRPEEEEANEERAE
MmE - ARERESEREHARRBEEBE
NFEEFEMEBEANKEZEREBA
BEEFFEOE  EETABAEASE
BEER -

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest
and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and
for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets
and investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit if it can be
allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group
of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises

in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.
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HZE2024F3A31H L6 E For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. SEBE(E) 2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

24. EXRSGFTEHEE) 2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
v Related parties

ETHEBERT BEEHFERAEAERS A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

R

(a) BERAATAEBASZATHEER (a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that

FERKE - AT - person:

) ol gk RIS AN EE @) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) HAREBEERTZEN (i1) has significant influence over the Group; or
=

(i) BAKEIXREELAA (ili)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a
MNEEZEEBAES parent of the Group;

54 or
(b) ERAHABRIFTE TIMEM— (b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

TR e -

(i) ZEREASEBR —% (6)) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
KB AR

(ii) —ZXERRE XEBEN (i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a
BMENTIRAE B (K parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);
FREBOEQRF - M
BARKRARMEAR)

(i) ZEREALAEEAR—F (iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
=TIMEERE

(iv) —REBAF=ZFEERN (iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
AEGLE MR—EEA associate of the third entity;
BE=HERENBE NG
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(Continued)

v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
in (a);

(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity
or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of

a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services to the Group or to the parent of

the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset

to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each
item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms of the leases

Leasehold improvements 20% or over the terms of the leases,

whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 25%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 33%.%
Motor vehicles 20%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives,
the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially
recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement
recognised in profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is the difference

between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including right-of-use
asset) held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market

conditions at the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Investment properties (Continued)

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are

included in profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment property are
recognised in profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an
investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation” for owned
property up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date between the
carrying amount and the fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and

depreciation” above.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.
A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases,
except for short-term leases. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is
the date the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted

for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:
3 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is located or
restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and

conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the
lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land 50 years
Retail stores and office properties 1 to 4 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of the lease term
or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of investment
property as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of financial position.
Right-of-use assets that meet the definition of investment property are presented in
“Investment properties”.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2e Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures the
lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease

incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to

exercise the option; and

o payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental rates are initially
measured using the market rental rates as at the commencement date. Variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment

occurs.
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2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest accretion

and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding adjustment to
the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has been changed or there is a change in the assessment
of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments have been changed due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial

discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

(c) Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more additional lease
or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to
each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests of a property which
includes both leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless such

allocation cannot be made reliably.

Non-lease components are separated from the lease component and are accounted
for by applying other applicable standards.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2e Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(d) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases of retail
stores and office properties that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the lease term.

(e) Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-use

assets.

() Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use

one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the

particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group
remeasures the lease liability less any lease incentives receivable, based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the effective date of the modification.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(f) Lease modifications (Continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified
contract contains a lease component and one or more additional lease or non-
lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the modified contract
to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of the lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Group as a lessor
(a) Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is
classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term except for investment properties measured under the fair value
model. Variable lease payments for operating leases that depend on an index or a
rate are estimated and included in the total lease payments to be recognised on a
straight-line basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income when they arise.

(b) Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease components, the Group applies
HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to allocate consideration in a
contract to lease and non-lease components. Non-lease components are separated
from the lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone selling prices.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)
(c) Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are

considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

(d) Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the original terms
and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications, including lease incentives

provided through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease from
the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease payments for the new
lease.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured
at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive income and fair value

through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a
significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for which
the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers in

accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or
fair value through other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”’) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it manages
its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured at amortised cost
are held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within a business model
with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective
interest rate method and are subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised

in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a
group of similar financial assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e. removed from the
Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without
material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially

all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or
has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent,
it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor
transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the

Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred
asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the

maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all
debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that

are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has
not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance
is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when contractual amounts are

more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90
days past due. However, in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off

when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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B ZE2024F3A31HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. SBE(E) 2.  Accounting Policies (Continued)

24. BEXSTTBHEKR(E) 2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
TR EEREE) Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

—MRIE(E) General approach (Continued)

REEN AT ENEREERN —RAZET Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general
k@ BIREE - HIRU TstEB8EER approach and they are classified within the following stages for measurement of
BRI - WER T XA A ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
B PEILE 5 FRIABRIN © below.

F1RER - BYBERREEERIABEE Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
BIREEREERRSR12(E significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
ARBEEEENSEIIENG allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs
BIA

B - BYREAECERRBEEEMN Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
BIEEERESREEREE significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
BERESENBREHEEER impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
MeEEMeRIA measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

FIBR - RMREPHEHEEREVEL Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
FEERRECRLECERE) (but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
REERERESNREHEHE for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
ERENSEAEBNCREE lifetime ECLs

EERE Credit-impaired

ERE—TARZIEN SR EE R RAKIE A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of default that have a
SRBEAETHEENENEMHE €08 detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have
ELREERE 2REEEERENSE occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable
BEEEBAT B4R EREUE data about the following events:

a) BITARETALEERITK a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

2

b) EBA - flan¥e/R s B HEAEIE b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

c) ERANERAREEBRALE © the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating
HHREEE 2 EERENIER to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
MEFERAEEMBRTNER concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

ARTFEBZ BB &K

d) BERABAIERESETEME  d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
BEH - financial reorganisation.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that
the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures,
taking into account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a

derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or
when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at
each reporting date. The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, probability of default, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. In addition,
the Group has assessed the lifetime ECLs for trade receivables individually for
each debtor.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans and borrowings or

payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans
and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other

payable, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is

discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on
substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference between the

respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in
the consolidated statement of financial position if there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined on the weighted average basis and, in the case of work in progress
and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices

less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash
on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of
generally within three months that are readily convertible into known amounts of
cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and held for the purpose
of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as defined
above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has
arisen as a result of a past event and it is probable that a future outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision
is the present value at the end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted

present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in profit or loss.

Onerous contracts

Present obligations arising under onerous contracts are recognised and measured
as provisions. An onerous contract is considered to exist where the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting the obligations under the

contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received from the contract.

Restoration provisions

Provisions for the costs to restore leased assets to their original condition, as
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, are recognised at the date of
inception of the lease at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure that would
be required to restore the assets. Estimates are regularly reviewed and adjusted as

appropriate for new circumstances.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period,
taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in
which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences
at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and

their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, when the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of unused tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences
arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise
to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it
is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary

differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of the reporting period
and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable

profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax
rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group
has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities
and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis,
or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be

settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable
assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as
income on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers
The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied,

i.e., when “control” of the goods underlying the particular performance obligation
is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of goods) that is distinct
or a series of distinct goods that are substantially the same.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2e Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by reference to
the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation
if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for

performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at the point in time when the customer obtains
control of the distinct goods.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease terms.
Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as

income in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest
method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when

appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due
(whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e. transfers control of the related goods to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates share option schemes. Employees (including directors) of
the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based payments, whereby
employees render services in exchange for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to
the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, further details of which are given in
note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit expense,
together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense
recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period until
the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
The charge or credit to profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Share-based payments (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account when
determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions
being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance conditions are reflected
within the grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an award, but
without an associated service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting
conditions. Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or

performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance and/or
service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where awards
include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided

that all other performance and/or service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum an expense
is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the original terms of the
award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial
to the employee as measured at the date of modification. Where an equity-settled
award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and
any expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share dilution in
the computation of earnings per share.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement
benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based
on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully

with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Chinese Mainland are
required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage of
their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central

pension scheme.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes in jurisdictions other than
Chinese Mainland are charged as expenses when employees have rendered services

entitling them to the contributions.

Termination benefits

A liability for a termination benefit is recognised at the earlier of when the group
entity can no longer withdraw the offer of the termination benefit and when it
recognises any related restructuring costs involving the payment of termination
benefit.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the services. All
short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefits in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages and

salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already paid.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the

notes to the financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the
entities in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional
currency rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair
value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair
value of the item (i.e. translation difference on the item whose fair value gain
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also

recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

2. Accounting Policies (Continued)

2.4. Material Accounting Policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense
or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability
relating to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on
which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction date for each payment or

receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are currencies other than
the HKS. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into HKS$ at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their profit or loss is translated into HK$ at the exchange rates

that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the translation reserve, except to the extent that the differences
are attributable to non-controlling interest. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that particular foreign operation is

recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of
overseas subsidiaries are translated into HK$ at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries
which arise throughout the year are translated into HK$ at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and
the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made
the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors of the
Company have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios and concluded
that:

@) the Group’s investment properties located in Hong Kong are not held
under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time.
Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties located in Hong Kong, the directors of the Company have
determined that the presumption that the carrying amounts of investment
properties measured using the fair value model are recovered entirely
through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has not recognised any
deferred taxes on changes in fair value of investment properties located in
Hong Kong as the Group is not subject to any income taxes on disposal of
its investment properties.

(i) the Group’s investment properties located in Chinese Mainland are held
under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of
the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time.
Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on investment
properties located in Chinese Mainland, the directors of the Company
have determined whether the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties measured using the fair value model are recovered
entirely through sale is rebutted and the Group has recognised deferred
tax on changes in fair value of investment properties on the basis that the
deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that will follow from the manner
in which the Group expects at the end of the reporting period to recover the
carrying amount of the investment properties.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year, are described below.

Impairment of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets

The Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets are carried at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any. In
determining whether an asset is impaired, the management of the Group has
to exercise judgement and make assumptions, particularly when assessing: (1)
whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount,
in the case of value in use and the net present value of future cash flows which are
estimated based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the value in use included in the cash flow
projections.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belong, including allocation of corporate assets when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be established, otherwise the recoverable amount
is determined at the smallest group of cash-generating units, for which the relevant
corporate assets have been allocated. Changing the underlying assumptions
and key inputs, including but not limited to the forecasted revenue, gross profit
margins and discount rates, in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the
estimated recoverable amounts.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets (Continued)

As at 31st March, 2024, the carrying amounts of the Identified PPE and
the Identified ROU assets were HK$5,751,000 (2023: HK$3,113,000) and
HK$125,486,000 (2023: HK$78,425,000), respectively. The recoverable amounts
of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets have been determined by the
management of the Group using value in use calculations of the individual retail
stores to which these assets belong. The value in use calculations are based on
the discounted cash flow projections based on management’s expectations on the
market development and the past performance, where the key input parameters
include forecasted revenue, gross profit margins and discount rates. The Group
estimates the recoverable amount of each retail store as it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount of each of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets
individually. During the year ended 31st March, 2024, impairment losses on the
Identified PPE and Identified ROU assets of HK$442,000 (2023: HK$156,000) and
HK$5,783,000 (2023: HK$3,089,000), respectively, were recognised in profit or
loss.

Valuation of investment properties

The fair value of each investment property is individually determined at each

reporting date by independent external valuers based on a market value assessment.

Management works closely with the valuers and exercises judgement to establish
the appropriate valuation technique and key inputs to the model. The key inputs
used in determining the fair values of parking spaces and an industrial property
located in Hong Kong include market observable transactions of similar properties
and taking into account the differences in the location and condition of the
investment properties under the direct comparison approach. The key inputs used
in determining the fair value of the commercial properties in Hong Kong and
industrial properties in Chinese Mainland include capitalisation rates and monthly
market rents per square foot/metre under income capitalisation approach.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
3. Significant Accounting Judgements and Estimates
(Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

The management considers the valuations of the Group’s investment properties are
the best estimates. Changes to these assumptions, including the potential risk of
any market violation, policy, geopolitical and social changes or other unexpected
incidents as a result of change in macroeconomic environment, the increased
complexity in international trade tension and geopolitics, changes in policy
direction and/or mortgage requirements, or other unexpected incidents would
result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s investment properties and the
corresponding adjustments to the amount of gain or loss reported in profit or loss.

As at 31st March, 2024, the fair value of the Group’s investment properties
amounted to HK$552,651,000 (2023: HK$472,456,000). Further details, including
the key assumptions used for fair value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are

given in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

Allowance for inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable values. Management
has determined the allowance for obsolete and slow-moving inventory items
at the end of reporting period with reference to the inventory ageing analysis,
changes in expected market conditions impacting the demand and pricing and by
comparing the carrying amount of inventories with their estimated net realisable
values, primarily based on the latest selling prices. When estimating the net
realisable value of the inventories, a significant degree of management judgement,
assumptions and estimation are applied. When the net realisable values of the

inventories are lower than expectation, further allowance may arise.

As at 31st March, 2024, the carrying amount of inventories was HK$106,501,000
(2023: HK$93,175,000) after netting off the allowance for inventories of
HK$18,095,000 (2023: HK$24,330,000).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

4. Revenue and Segment Information

(a) Revenue

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Types of goods
Sale of cosmetics
Manufacture and sale of ladies

fashion

Total

Timing of revenue recognition

At point in time

Geographical markets
Hong Kong and Macau
Other regions of the PRC

Total

4] BFgE st
Cosmetics Fashion Total
FET FERT FERT
HK$°000 HK$’°000 HK$’000
426,537 - 426,537
- 160,173 160,173
426,537 160,173 586,710
426,537 160,173 586,710
426,537 160,147 586,684
- 26 26
426,537 160,173 586,710
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B ZE2024F3A31HIEFE

4. EXERIEEHE)
(a) EXRE(E

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(a) Revenue (Continued)

HZE2023F3H31HLLFE For the year ended 31st March, 2023
DIFFEEFEHZIWA Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers
bk R “Et
Cosmetics Fashion Total
FHET FHET FH&T
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
EmER Types of goods
HE S Sale of cosmetics 301,627 - 301,627
BUE RHE AR Manufacture and sale of ladies
fashion - 170,998 170,998
et Total 301,627 170,998 472,625
U A\ FE R Y B Timing of revenue recognition
EX 2 At point in time 301,627 170,998 472,625
i@ 5 Geographical markets
B8 MR Hong Kong and Macau 301,627 165,898 467,525
AR E Attt [ Other regions of the PRC - 5,100 5,100
et Total 301,627 170,998 472,625

FRASBETMBHELMAHEENS - WAR
EmEtEErEER(NERENER
BB T (M) - RRHE -
BEFTE2ERNBEAESHE I AREES
MEER NHEERBAEIBZETY
AEERREBRRKBRNRAR - EERE
B ARMEM60KEI20XK -

BT ERFHE/ kM R ARE
T RMARESBEGIRERE(BRF
NREZEEBEERNEBIER - X5
BN RERBEREEFEE S RMEE S
BIfN e  REBEERARNEESEMEE
ZARETFZERERME ' EREEHA
EBEREBEEREMN0KRECORK °

RBERR - BESEZEBHEENRS
1B RIEE N (A W AREER) o

For sales of ladies fashion to the wholesale market, revenue is recognised when
control of the goods has been transferred, being when the goods have been shipped
to the wholesaler’s specific location (delivery). Following the delivery, the
wholesaler has the full discretion over the manner of distribution and price to sell
the goods, has the primary responsibility when selling the goods and bears the risks
of obsolescence and loss in relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 60 to
120 days upon delivery.

For sales of cosmetics products and ladies fashion to retail customers, revenue is
recognised when control of the goods has been transferred, being at the point when
the customer purchases the goods at the retail stores. Payment of the transaction
price is due immediately at the point when the customer purchases the goods. For
sales of ladies fashion to retail customers through sales counters in department
stores, the normal credit term is 30 to 60 days upon the customer purchases the
goods.

There are no transaction prices allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) as at the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(b) Segment information

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision makers (“CODM?”), for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on the types of goods delivered. The
information reported to the CODM is further categorised into different retail stores
within Hong Kong and Macau, each of which is considered as a separate operating
segment by the CODM. For segment reporting, these individual operating segments
have been aggregated into a single reportable segment. The Group has presented

the following two reportable segments:

(a) the cosmetics segment engages in the sales of cosmetics; and

(b) the fashion segment engages in the manufacture and sale of ladies fashion.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s
material accounting policies described in note 2.4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/loss, which
is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The adjusted profit/loss before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/loss before tax except the change
in fair value of investment properties, certain other income and gains, net, central
administration costs, interest expense on bank and other borrowings and interest on

certain lease liabilities.

No analysis of segment assets and liabilities is presented as the CODM do not
review such information for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment.

Inter-segment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to the selling prices
used for sales made to third parties at the prevailing market prices.
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BIE20245F3A31HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2024

4. EEIRIEER(E) 4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(b) DEER(E) (b) Segment information (Continued)
DR s [ EAE Segment revenue and results
HZE2024F3831HILEFEE For the year ended 31st March, 2024
dd S DEBE H RE
Segment
Cosmetics Fashion total Eliminations Consolidated
FTExT FTEx FTET TER FTER

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

EER REVENUE
HINEE External sales 426,537 160,173 586,710 - 586,710
DB ZHEE Inter-segment sales - 12 12 (12) -
426,537 160,185 586,722 (12) 586,710
SHEER SEGMENT LOSS (19,467) (3,618) (23,085) - (23,085)
BREMENFEBELA Increase in fair value of
investment properties 5,324
H A Rzt F 58 Other income and gains, net 12,459
HRITBER Central administration costs (6,042)
BER A Finance costs (27,067)
BrEL AT AR Loss before tax (38,411)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)

Segment revenue and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31st March, 2023

et 533 SRERE HiH Fa
Segment

Cosmetics Fashion total  Eliminations  Consolidated

THT FAT TAT FHET FHET

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000

REVENUE
External sales 301,627 170,998 472,625 - 472,625
Inter-segment sales - 8 8 (8) -
301,627 171,006 472,633 8) 472,625

SEGMENT LOSS (1,781) (1,437) (3,218) - (3,218)
Increase in fair value of

investment properties 19,881
Other income and gains, net 9,974
Central administration costs (6,060)
Finance costs (14,468)
Profit before tax

6,109
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BIE20245F3A31HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2024

4. EEIRIEER(E) 4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(by DEEBR(E) (b) Segment information (Continued)
A7 AR Other segment information
fLitm R PEEE AT &8
Segment
Cosmetics Fashion total Corporate  Consolidated
TERT TER TER TR TERT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
20245 2024
FEzRE/(BR) Provision for/(reversal of)
inventories 4,722 (3,735) 987 - 987
BEZHE& Write-off of inventories 1,082 339 1,421 - 1,421
EX BEREBRE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 1,367 2,165 3,532 1,347 4,879
FRESEZINE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 52,359 40,657 93,016 121 93,137
HEEYE  BENKREER Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of
2B/ (i) property, plant and equipment 18 (293) (275) - (275)
BARX Capital expenditure
—E¥ BERLE — Property, plant and equipment 4,041 2,098 6,139 - 6,139
—FREEE - Right-of-use assets 103,253 43,837 147,090 2,337 149,427
BREEaN Provision for/(reversal of)
B/ (B%) onerous contracts 443 (129) 314 - 314
E¥  BEREE Impairment of property, plant
ZRE and equipment 421 21 442 - 442
FREBEZRE Impairment of right-of-use assets 5,403 380 5,783 - 5,783
JEWE S ALIEEERE  Reversal of expected credit loss
pAEL:; for trade receivables - (3,381) (3,381) - (3,381)
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BE2024F3HA31HIEFE

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

4. EEIRIEER(E) 4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(b) DEER(E) (b) Segment information (Continued)
H o FHER (&) Other segment information (Continued)

20235

FEZBE

BFEZHE

EX BEREGBINE

EREEEZNE
HEER  BERREERR
BB/ (Wa)
ARRX
—EX  BERRME
-BREEE
BREAHZ
(&), B
EX  HENEE
ZRE
EREEEZRE
BB SRR REEERE
2B

et 55 DR NG
Segment
Cosmetics Fashion total Corporate
TERL TERL TERT TET
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
2023
Provision for inventories 5,340 742 6,082 -
Write-off of inventories 1,603 237 1,840 -
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 1,247 2,449 3,696 1,348
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 36,337 36,984 73,321 -
Loss/(gain) on disposal of items of
property, plant and equipment 3 (11) (8) -
Capital expenditure
— Property, plant and equipment 904 709 1,613 =
- Right-of-use assets 44,403 43,408 87,811 -
(Reversal of)/provision for
onerous contracts 37 28 ) -
Impairment of property, plant
and equipment - 156 156 -
Impairment of right-of-use assets 2,192 897 3,089 -
Provision of expected credit loss
for trade receivables - 128 128 -

=
o>

Consolidated
THT
HK$’000

6,082

1,840

5,044
73,321

®)

1,613
87,811

)

156
3,089

128
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

4. Revenue and Segment Information (Continued)

(b) Segment information (Continued)
Geographical information

The Group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong and Macau, and
other regions of the PRC. Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the geographical locations of operations.

2024 2023

FTER FET

HK$°000 HK$°000

&8 MR Hong Kong and Macau 586,684 467,525
B2 Efbib& Other regions of the PRC 26 5,100
586,710 472,625

BEREAREEERATS 2 ERIGEE
AEEPEFERLEREL0%

BERAAKEFRBDEE(TRERTEHRE
BERERTR) ZENDNREEMEM
B25 -

No revenue from a customer of the Group contributed over 10% of the total revenue

of the Group for the corresponding years.

Information about the Group’s non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets
and financial instruments) is presented based on the geographical locations of the

assets.

2024 2023

FHExT T

HK$°000 HK$’000

B KR Hong Kong and Macau 606,739 496,113
2 H A b & Other regions of the PRC 91,563 92,469
[Eaf South Korea 714 1,235
699,016 589,817
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

S. Other Income and Gains, Net

Other income

Bank interest income

Interest income from rental deposits paid

Rental income from investment properties,
with negligible outgoings

Government grants (Note)

Gains, net

Gain on disposal of items of property,
plant and equipment, net

Foreign exchange differences, net

(Provision for)/reversal of onerous contract
(note 24)

Gains on modification of leases

Gains on termination of leases

Penalties from tenants for early termination
of leases

Others

2024 2023
FHET FHT
HK$°000 HK$°000
13 16

1,224 766
11,564 9,950

- 16,244

12,801 26,976
275 8
1,012 3,433
(314) 9

499 7,594

755 82

868 -
2,138 1,502
5233 12,628
18,034 39,604

et - REZE2023F3A31BIEFE - A% Note: During the year ended 31st March, 2023, the Group recognised government

8] R T 4 85 16,244,0008 7T © H
11,564,000/ T BB B FF AT E
(MFEDBF 2 R E G 8
F 2 #HBh - T4,820,00002FF % (B
74,680,000 7% 7T ) 7 8 P45 [E BUAT
Z2NFERENEESHE T M
B c ZERTHB T ERFEME

31st March, 2024.

Wi - M EZE BT AREN 202443

A31H L FERRER

grants of HK$16,244,000, of which HK$11,564,000 related to the
Employment Support Scheme granted by the Government of the Hong Kong
Special Administrative Region (“SAR”) and MOP4,820,000 (equivalent to
HK$4,680,000) from the Year 2022 10-Billion-Pataca Fund granted by the
Macau SAR Government. There were no unfulfilled conditions attached to these
government grants. No such government grants are recognised in the year ended
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

6. (Loss)/Profit Before Tax

Cost of inventories sold
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets included in:
— Cost of goods sold
— Selling and distribution costs

— Administrative expenses

Lease payments not included in the measurement

of lease liabilities

Auditors’ remuneration
— audit services

— non-audit services

Employee benefits expense (including directors’
emoluments) (note §):

Salaries and other benefits

Share-based payments

Retirement benefit scheme contributions**

The Group’s (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after (crediting)/charging:

2024 2023
T TET
HK$°000 HK$°000
324,981 234,940
4,879 5,044
138 165
89,953 70,363
3,046 2,793
93,137 73,321
13,293 9,390
2,258 2,458
392 291
115,701 118,110
155 174
6,518 6,933
122,374 125,217
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HZE2024F3A31HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2024
6. BBAI(EE) %F 6. (Loss)/Profit Before Tax (Continued)
(&)

2024 2023
TERT FET
HK$°000 HKS$°000
RENERE Foreign exchange differences, net (1,012) (3,433)
e Z S0 TEEEEEE 2 (B#),/ (Reversal)/provision of expected credit loss
B for trade receivables (3,381) 128
E¥ BEEREZRE Impairment of property, plant and equipment 442 156
EREEEZRE Impairment of right-of-use assets 5,783 3,089
FE 2 B Provision for inventories* 987 6,082
78 2 Mk Write-off of inventories* 1,421 1,840
EBREAL 2 BE/ () Provision for/(reversal of) onerous contracts 314 )
REMENTEBEZZEFH Change in fair value of investment properties, net (5,324) (19,881)
HEESE BB IREBER 2l Gains on disposal of items of property, plant and
equipment (275) ®)
& FAGFEHRE RERERFEZ  * Scrap, shrinkage and provision for slow-moving inventories for the year are
BHETAGAERREME2EKA included in “cost of goods sold” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
RZ[HEKKIA - and other comprehensive income.
*% REEEREEIWED R ZHK e There are no forfeited contributions that may be used by the Group as the
AHE AR A IRE Z KT - employer to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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B ZE2024F3 8318 1EEE

7. BERAE

RITRENFBHAX
HERENHEHX
KEBEZERONEFHX

8. EERTHARMNE

B EmRA - FHQRMEHEE383(1)
(@) * (b) * )REOBERAB(BEESFm
ERD RO FE 2R W B FRNEERITHE

HEemT :
WUE 2024
ik Fees
HAthMe Other emoluments
e REH Salaries and allowances
ERERE IS Retirement benefit
scheme contributions
Hesa Total emoluments

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

7. Finance Costs

Interest expense on bank borrowings

Interest expense on lease liabilities

Interest expense on loans from directors

8. Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration

2024 2023
FHT FHT
HK$°000 HK$°000
25,917 13,996
7,778 2,768
1,110 472
34,805 17,236

of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies

Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits

Hirggm
Executive director "
WERLL 2200
(ipas) B0
Ms. Lam  Non-executive Bk TESmn)
BEEE Yuk Sum  director " Independent non-executive director
Mr. Cheng (Chief XAEE  BBEERE BuEst BRERE
Chung Man, Executive Mr.Lam  Mr. Au-Yeung  Mr. Cheng Man Mr. Yeung At
Johnny Officer)" ManTin ~ Hau Cheong  Loong, Monty Wing Kay Total
TR TR TiEn TER AR T TiEn
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
- - 130 130 130 150 540
1,560 660 - - - - 2,220
18 31 - - - - 49
1,578 691 130 130 130 150 2,809




e SRR MR
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE2024F3H31HIEFE

8. EERTHAIZME 8.

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Remuneration

(4&) (Continued)
0235 2023
e
Executive director “*
wERLL T
(fmes) g
Ms.Lam  Non-executive BUEHTES M
BENRE Yuk Sum  director M) Independent non-executive director "¢
Mr. Cheng (Chief mEEE  BRESEHE Llye ik BkERE
Chung Man, Executive Mr.Lam  Mr. Au-Yeung  Mr. ChengMan Mr. Yeung At
Johnny Officer)’ Man Tin Hau Cheong ~ Loong, Monty Wing Kay Total
TEL TiEL T TEL TEL TEL TR
HKS’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
we Pees - - 130 130 130 150 540
EfEe Other emoluments
e REs Salaries and allowances 1,560 660 - - - - 2,220
RIVERIET B Retirement benefit
scheme contributions 18 31 - - - - 49

HWeas Total emoluments 1,578 691 130 130 130 150 2,809

@ MERZRLRBARBITHRAR - % Ms. Lam Yuk Sum is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and her
R EEER e BEREE emoluments disclosed above included those services rendered by her as the
TR B P iRt 2 PR - Chief Executive Officer.

Mfat - Notes:

(a) ERATRZBTEETHESEERHE (a) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their
EEBRARRAEEEH 2 HHE services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and
R 75 1 3% A the Group.

(b) ERATRZIIFANITEERB LI (b) The non-executive director’s and independent non-executive directors’
TEEME T ERREREARA emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as directors of the
EFZRBMBEM - Company.

(c) H 02024 K 2023F3 8318 L= (c) During the years ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were paid

B AEBIEERNESERITHRER
XAME  EAEMAREEZF
E kBB A E o thoh - ITERARE S
Efa] & = M8 B 2024 FF 22023
FIA3 B IEFERETABE -

by the Group to the directors and the Chief Executive Officer as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. In
addition, neither the Chief Executive Officer nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments during the years ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023.
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B ZE2024F3 8318 1EEE

9. HiuBEHES

RAFER  sSiimaHATBREIN
(2023%F (1R ARREE - BAEMESH
BN EXXHIES - B T4 (20234 < 4
fDEEFALTHMSHOT

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

9. Five Highest Paid Employees

During the year, the five highest paid individuals included one (2023: one) director
of the Company, whose emoluments are set out in note 8 above. The emoluments
of the remaining four (2023: four) highest paid individuals are as follows:

2024 2023
FERT T
HK$°000 HK$’000

He o B AEM ZENE Salaries, share-based payment and
E A B F other benefits 3,518 3,493
EA R IR ME A 2 2B 2O Performance related incentive payments - 30
RIKEFE B Retirement benefit scheme contributions 72 72
3,590 3,595

HeBR T BENIFESERIFETEITR
AEBSFHEEABWMT

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees whose

remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

EEA™
Number of employees
2024 2023
Z 21,000,000/ 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000 4 4

B E2024F K2023F3A31BIEFE © &K
SEYERZSUEaTALTINME
ERBEMARER 2 FE BB HEE -

During the years ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023, no emoluments were paid by
the Group to these five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
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BE2024F3H31HIEFE

10. REB

B — &
REFE R
BEFEBERE

BIHER— E b RDEMER
REZFHX
PBEFE(BERE) BETR

EERTE (A a£25)

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

10. Income Tax

2024 2023
FET THET
HK$°000 HK$’000

Current — Hong Kong
Charge for the year 572 633
Overprovision in prior years -

(132)

572 501

Current — Other jurisdictions
Charge for the year (2) 77
(Overprovision)/underprovision

in prior years (69) 10
(71) 87

Deferred tax (note 25) 1,131 494
1,632 1,082

BALE—EHBARANSRMAS T
MEERERIN BEFAREBELEZ
fhEtERR A% F3216.5% (20234 © 16.5%)
ZEHERBERENGH - ZMBRARNE
2,000,000/ 7T (20234F : 2,000,0007% 7T ) fE
RRT FH28.25% (2023 4F ¢ 8.25% ) K Fi &
BEL - TR T R BDE F BIE 16.5% (2023
F 1 16.5%) T REFH -

ETRBRMEEZHNEB QA AKI
(2023%F : 12% ) HEBHTRPIFH TR -
MBEFHEREERRERBEE - It
AN - REE2024F K2023F3 8318 IEF
B BRIMSHAERBREEETIAET -
EEBERT  ERBEBRANERES
600,0002 FT % (FH574582,000/870) * #8
600,000 P9 #& (#7557 582,000 7T ) K
S5 A BN I% B R R 12% (2023 4F © 12%)#
i o

BIE(FEARIMBOEMEREN 1
¥MBRED RECEMESTHAERMA
BB AR 2R B25% (2023 F ¢
25%) °

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on the
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for one
subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2023: HK$2,000,000) of assessable profits
of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2023: 8.25%) and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%).

Certain subsidiaries operating in Macau are subject to Macau complementary tax
of 12% (2023: 12%), subject to finalisation of the tax liability with the relevant tax
authority. In addition, for the years ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023, a special
complementary tax incentive was provided to the effect that the tax-free income
threshold was Macau Pataca (“MOP”) 600,000 (equivalent to HK$582,000) with
profit above MOP600,000 (equivalent to HK$582,000) being taxed at a fixed rate
of 12% (2023: 12%).

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (the “EIT Law”)
and the Implementation Regulations of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC
subsidiaries is 25% (2023: 25%).
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B E2024F3 A31H ILFE

10. REB(E)
KEE T FEHRET RS ES

Y2 A 3R 2 BR B2 Al (Eﬁ@)//ﬁnf'

T

BBiAT (B518), & F

BEBFEHRMEI6.5%TENFE

HRAREMANEEENZEE 2
TRABEzHE

SRR 5 TR R 2 RIRR E

IRIET =5 BERRBAZRIBZE

B 55 A e R FERR 2 TR IR B 1R

TR AR Z RIBEIEZ AR E

W AR FERR 2 AR A 1 A R
BIA 2

8B 5T AT B A0 B ER B IR

FEHMRS], 2B HEYE

REZOFEHFX

11. KRE

EaAH-SRTRRT
(20234 : 0.5781)

HZE2023F3A31 B ILFE 2 RS
RRNRRDHEEREPEMS) ERBRER

FAE LERRAE

EETERKNE E2024F3A31H

LEEFEEEFRBBE -

L2
ffian

(B

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

10. Income Tax (Continued)

follows:

(Loss)/profit before tax

Tax at the Hong Kong profits tax rate of
16.5%

Effect of different tax rates applicable to
operations in other jurisdictions

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax
purposes

Tax effect of income not taxable for tax
purposes

Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised

Tax effect of tax losses previously not
recognised

Tax effect of deductible temporary
difference not recognised

Adjustments in respect of current tax of
previous periods

Tax effect of the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime/tax exemption

Income tax expense for the year

11. Dividends

Proposed final — nil (2023: HKO0.5 cent)
per ordinary share

general meeting.

31st March, 2024.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the (loss)/profit before tax
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as

2024 2023
THERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
(38,411) 6,109
(6,338) 1,008
407 (25)
1,816 2,555
(3,446) (6,539)
(151) (1,805)
10,495 10,238
(909) (4,035)
(69) (132)
(173) (183)
1,632 1,082
2024 2023
FHER FET
HK$°000 HKS$°000
- 12,590

The final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2023 (paid out of the share
premium account of the Company) was approved by the shareholders at the annual

The directors did not recommend payment of any final dividend for the year ended
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BE2024F3H31HIEFE

12. ER(EE) EF

FRERERE(2023F - FREF)ESETY
BERFAGARERERER ARLSF
A E51840,043,00078 7T (20235 G Ak Fl
5,027,000/ 7T ) & B 317 I WA A F 15
£72,518,001,334/% (20224 :2,518,001,334
BFE -

HRG) T EEHE2024F3 8318 LFES
REEEERTERRANR ZERES
BITE - BRTEZEERENE 8K
EEEm - KT E#ZE2023F3 A31
ALFEzSREEARFRY EREAR
AlzERESRTE BAZEEREZ
TEESRRONEE2023F3A31H 1E
FEZFHME MW EHEHE2024F K
20233 A31 8 IEFE 2N TFRER(E
B)/ B eEELTAEERE -

13. BEYHE

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

12. (Loss)/Earnings Per Share

The calculation of the basic loss per share (2023: earnings per share) amount
is based on the loss for the year of HK$40,043,000 (2023: profit for the year
of HK$5,027,000) attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 2,518,001,334 (2023:
2,518,001,334) in issue during the year.

No adjustment has been made to the basic (loss)/earnings per share amounts
presented for the years ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023 in respect of dilution as
(i) the calculation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 31st March, 2024
does not assume the exercise of the Company’s share options since their assumed
exercise would result in a decrease in loss per share; and (ii) the calculation of
diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31st March, 2023 does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s share options because the exercise price of those options
was higher than the average market price for shares for the year ended 31st March,
2023.

13. Investment Properties

2024 2023
FHET FHET
HK$’000 HK$°000
F9) At the beginning of the year 472,456 447,692
BEHEX  BERRERZ) Transferred from property, plant and
equipment (Note) 78,200 3,672
EREREESE (M) Transferred from right-of-use assets (Note) - 6,583
RIESFERZ AFEE Net increase in fair value recognised in
F LA profit or loss 5,324 19,881

[ H FH 8 Exchange realignment (3,329) (5,372)
FR At the end of the year 552,651 472,456




130

e BRI

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

520243 A31BIEFE

13. REWHE(E)

Biat : REZE2024F3A318LEFE @ LAl
AFAME BEARBZEEEAR
18,032,000/ 8 THI T ¥ MEDER ST
REYE - BRYE BERR
2 AN FEEWZ60,168,000/8 L E R
ERE AREM2EKRARER -

REBZE2023F3H3IBLFE @ F
HE S Bl £2,103,0007 7T % 362,000
BITWRFPRIZIAEZE - BE KRR
B IENMERBIIAFEREEE
ZEBTHMERAEEEBREREY
¥ oEBEX BERKBARSE
BEEEZATFEERED A
1,569,000 7 7T & 6,221,000 7 JT (48
BRI RE R IE 9 5l £392,0007%8 7T &
1,555,000/ 7C) « REBE BREM
2HEMARER °

ZENERBBERAMFEMRTA
PR ) R fh B B 1T (b SERT b R FE A
BRABRRBEABROERE

AEEZEEMENCRE BN — BT
REANZAEMN - URBEERNIAMER
URFEAREENE T IEYE - A
EERRBMEE R HAENEBEE NN
RAZIAEMEERDFRRFEEER
HE - YO BERIMEREDE -

REEIE W E R 2024F £ 2023F3 A31
AZAFEEDREENEE T EEEY
BYAEREEMEMTPEBRITAR AR
R EHITRETE RFBRAERARET
ZEEHE  ZEATNERE 2 Y
HEEHEEEERRER - MEHITER
AR R EMITEETEREAFRA A

REBUEMBEES -

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

13. Investment Properties (Continued)

Note: During the year ended 31st March, 2024, an industrial property previously
included in property, plant and equipment with a carrying value of
HK$18,032,000 was transferred to investment properties. The fair value gain on
transfer of property, plant and equipment of HK$60,168,000 was recognised in
other comprehensive income on the date of transfer.

During the year ended 31st March, 2023, the industrial properties previously
included in property, plant and equipment and the relevant land use rights
included in right-of-use assets with carrying values of HK$2,103,000 and
HK$362,000, respectively, were transferred to investment properties. The
fair value gains on transfer of property, plant and equipment and right-of-
use assets of HK$1,569,000 and HK$6,221,000, net of deferred tax charges
of HK$392,000 and HK$1,555,000, respectively, were recognised in other
comprehensive income on the date of transfer.

The properties were valued by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited (“JLL”) and Jones
Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“JLLCAA”) based on
the income capitalisation approach at the date of transfer.

The investment properties of the Group represents the parking spaces in an
industrial building located in Hong Kong, commercial properties located in Hong
Kong and certain industrial properties located in Chinese Mainland and Hong
Kong. All of the Group’s properties interests held to earn rental and/or for capital
appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value model and are classified

and accounted for as investment properties.

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties at 31st March, 2024 and 2023
have been arrived at on the basis of valuations carried out on that date by JLL and
JLLCAA, independent qualified professional valuers not connected with the Group
and possessing the appropriate qualifications and experience in the valuation of
properties in the relevant locations. JLL and JLLCAA are members of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors.
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BE2024F3H31HIEFE

13. REWHE(E)

BEDFEADERLEOE(RUREEH
B R TEME) R)WABRLE (R
IR BB A Y EML RN B A A T
EMEIEE -

HELBOERBBUMERN TS LA B8R
ZR5  TEREREWMEZME MR
ZERMELAE -

WAB A ERBARZBMANRAR 2 A4
BHAOBSWABFTER  UERBEOERE
ZEFETHEES - RFEER - FIRANMG
BRI R H o

REFTERTEER XSS REE
REwAR RE B AR -

BHELEBE

HERBENEERAZEF BB
ABBEABELABENRME LABRY
& & N F 1,568,000 7 7T = 4,350,000 7 7T
(20234F : 1,380,000/ 7T % 4,350,000/ 7T)
R ESN IEMEEBERAAZE
F-EEFEHASBRAEUMERTS £
AR EBRNTEFEHFRLST4ABLEET
75 IR6,5378 7 (20234F  HFI77R5,320
BILETFHRS5,6958 L) T o

REBEBEHEMZ TISEREIEYE
ZEFHTRER LA BERLNEE
HEBEM R TEMERAFEEL K2

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

13. Investment Properties (Continued)

The valuations were determined using 1) the direct comparison approach for
parking spaces and an industrial property located in Hong Kong and 2) the income
capitalisation approach for commercial properties located in Hong Kong and
industrial properties located in Chinese Mainland.

The direct comparison approach reflects market observable transactions for similar
properties, mainly adjusted for differences in the location and condition of the

investment properties.

The income capitalisation approach reflects the rental income of contractual
tenancy capitalised for the unexpired terms of tenancy and the reversionary market
rent after expiry of tenancy in capitalisation. There have been no changes to the

valuation technique used during the years.

When estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is considered to be their current use.

Direct comparison approach

One of the key inputs used when valuing the parking spaces was the market
observable price of similar parking spaces which ranged from HK$1,568,000 to
HK$4,350,000 (2023: HK$1,380,000 to HK$4,350,000).

One of the key inputs used in valuing the industrial property located in Hong
Kong was the market observable price per square foot of similar properties which
ranged from HK$4,574 per square foot (“sq.ft.”) to HK$6,537 per sq.ft. (2023:
HK$5,320 per sq.ft. to HK$5,695 per sq.ft.).

The increase in the market prices of the parking spaces and the price per square
foot of industry properties located in Hong Kong would result in an increase in the
fair value of the parking spaces and the industrial property located in Hong Kong
respectively, and vice versa.
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B ZE2024F3 8318 1EEE

13. REWHE(E)
WAEARE

AR EE 2 AMEBEMAZH
FREFZHASBEADENMELEE25%

(20234 : 2%) k2)mE A BEF 5 R250
7T (20234 ¢ 2008 7T) °

SRR E A TEYEBERRZ
HEPMBEFERAEBRADERNELEES%
(2023%F : 5%) R2)yBFHKZTEARAN
FARB21TE ARB60IT(20234F + A
R¥E28TTE ARKESATT) T 5 ©

ERELENER LA - BEBZEEA
RIZMEZAHEETR  RZIA
& FHR, K TEABEER A
CEPZEHARIENE A TEEL
Tt RZIRA -

MR2024F K2023F3A31H » AEE 2%
EMECSTOEANFEEBRETNE
3E -

RAFERN  UE|EIFEZ2HALEHHEK
% e

7= [F 2 R 48 (E 552,651,000 7T (2023
F 1 472,456,000 ) 2 EWE LA
B AREEERTH—RIBITRE (K=
29) ©

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

13. Investment Properties (Continued)
Income capitalisation approach
Two of the key inputs used in valuing the commercial properties located in Hong

Kong were 1) the capitalisation rate of 2.5% (2023: 2%) and 2) the monthly market
rent of HK$250 (2023: HK$200) per sq.ft..

Two of the key inputs used in valuing the industrial properties located in Chinese
Mainland were 1) the capitalisation rate of 5% (2023: 5%) and 2) the monthly
market rent ranging from RMB21 to RMB60 (2023: RMB28 to RMB84) per square

metre.

Any increase in the capitalisation rate would result in a decrease in the fair value
of the commercial and industrial properties, and vice versa and, any increase in the
monthly market rent per square foot/meter would result in an increase in the fair
value of the commercial and industrial properties, and vice versa.

The Group’s investment properties are categorised within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy as at 31st March, 2024 and 2023.

There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year.

The Group has pledged investment properties with a total of HK$552,651,000
(2023: HK$472,456,000) to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 29).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

14. E¥  BERFZE 14. Property, Plant and Equipment
BELH g
it =3 EFEE  HEREE  GARKE  BOTRG RE &t
Leasehold
landand  Leasehold Plant and Furniture and Office Motor
buildings improvements  machinery fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn ThEn TiEn TiEn
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
AR COoST
R02F4A1A8 At It April, 2022 76,495 104,835 23,398 59,718 23,7124 6,059 294,229
A% Exchange realignment (2,078) (2,491) (1,843) (146) (53) 43) (0,654)
NE Additions - 1,239 - 25 149 - 1,613
heE Disposals - (28.454) (751) (670) (313) - (30,188)
ERRENE Transferred to investment properties (3.414) - - - - - (3,414)
R023F3A318 R203F4A1H At 315t March, 2023 and It April, 2023 71,003 75,129 20,804 59,127 23,507 6,016 255,586
EiA% Exchange realignment (855) (307) (890) M) (22) (22) (2,169)
RE Additions - 4,582 - 749 808 - 6,139
e Disposals - (4,153) (23 (1,346) (195) (3,007) (8,924)
ETRENE Transferred to investment properties (33,606) - - - - - (33,666)
R2024E38318 At 31st March, 2024 36,482 75,251 19,891 58,257 24,098 2987 216,966
ZiERAE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RN2F4A1R At 1st April, 2022 38,140 101,428 23,244 58,891 23275 5,750 250,728
EiA% Exchange realignment (786) (2,381) (1,831) (113) (49) (Y) (5,202)
Emifk Provided for the year 1,844 2,265 03 436 251 185 5,044
REFH Tmpairment loss = 116 = 40 = = 156
HE /MRS Eliminated on disposals/write-off - (28,450) (751) (667) (313) - (30,181)
eyt Transferred to investment properties (1,311) - - - - - (1,311)
RN23E3A31B R20BE4A1H At 31t March, 2023 and Ist April, 2023 37,887 72,978 20,7125 58,587 23,164 5,893 219,234
A% Exchange realignment (348) (282) (887) (63) (19) (22) (1,621)
ENEE Provided for the year 1,811 2070 60 344 am 123 4879
HERE [mpairment loss - R/ - 118 - - 442
HE /MBS Eliminated on disposals/write-off - (4,087 (23) (1,539 (193) (3,007) (8,851)
ERRENE Transferred to investment properties (15,634) - - - - - (15,634)
R2024E38318 At 31st March, 2024 213,716 71,003 19,875 57447 23421 2,987 198,449
REFE NET CARRYING AMOUNT
RNM4E3A31A At 31st March, 2024 12,766 4,48 16 810 671 - 18,517
R2023%3R318 At 31st March, 2023 33,116 2,151 79 540 343 123 36,352
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B ZE2024F3 8318 1EEE

14. EX BERREE)

AEBZHEE T RBEFAREE RSB
A o

RE BB KRR E(E 12,766,000 7T (2023
£ 133,116,000 7T) 2 HE T H RIETF -
LAEAS AR B R T 1) — M RITIRE (B
£29) o

REBZE2024F3A318LEE - RAEE
18,032,000 7T (2023 4 : 2,103,000 7T )
ZHELTHREFEEREREAYE - &
B E1H Y E U 2560,168,0007%8 7T (2023 F -
1,569,0007% 7T ) LA J 4B B IR E A0 1B ) 52 7%
Z(2023%F 392,000/ 70 ) RE M2 E U A
HRRERR ©

ERAZER  BMERRHELN
RERS > EAREE 2 A
Btk

ERFEEETREEHIRARE &
BERAEREIRLRESLRFIFHE
T S (TR -

fis /AT BE Al 5T — TR R B & E A ] W Bl &
B AASESHAZBEEAENBNES
EEBNMAKRESE HeEAEMT
AREISEERIEEREBEHEEE © %
B EFEREREAEREREIZ 2
AlzRemeETEA - WRER THE!
R2024F3 A3 BMBAIFTRENTE
F13.9%E 14.4% (2023F : HEF 13292
15.0%) N5 o TERI & X R ERE T
EEHMSERATEEHCBARIAM
EE -

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings are located in Hong Kong and Chinese
Mainland.

The Group has pledged leasehold land and buildings with a carrying value of
HK$12,766,000 (2023: HK$33,116,000) to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29).

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, leasehold land and buildings with
a carrying value of HK$18,032,000 (2023: HK$2,103,000) were transferred
to investment properties, resulting in a gain on revaluation of properties of
HK$60,168,000 (2023: HK$1,569,000), and the related deferred tax charge of nil
(2023: HK$392,000) recognised in other comprehensive income.

Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the Identified
ROU assets

Giving the underperformance of the Group’s certain retail stores, management
concluded there was an indication for impairment and performed impairment

assessment for all retail stores in Hong Kong and Macau.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the assets belong when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually. The recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit has been
determined based on a value in use calculations using cash flow projections based
on forecasts approved by the management of the Group covering the remaining
lease terms with a pre-tax discount rate ranging from 13.9% to 14.4% per annum
(2023: 13.2% to 15.0% per annum) as at 31st March, 2024. The forecasted revenue
and gross profit margin have been determined with reference to the expected

market development and the past performance of the retail stores.
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BE2024F3H31HIEFE

14. EX BERREE)

ERAIZEE  BERKEU
Re#slzEREERE 2RE
Ml (&)

EEEREHINZESE  BERREAR
Bz FEREEE TG FEEST
AR (AW KM 1SATEE) -
HIREE S 545,751,000 7T (20234 -
3,113,000 7T ) } 125,486,0007% 7T (2023
F ¢ 78,425,000 L) - KK AR E
NMOBEEI1E D B 5171,746,0007%8 7T (2023
4 1 175,454,000/ 7T ) }2539,880,0005%8 7T
(20234F : 455,658,000/ 7T) °

BEIEER  AEBBEERARETH
SEEBENMARESERNEAERRD
B -RESBFEHEEEHFIZEE - &
ERREBEREHENZEAEEEZSER
Al LEEEEERNNEEETNSHRE
BRREFEAEE EQFEERESERAE
BreBRIEZEEE - REFERAEME
HERAHE EDRIEREHZHAZEE
BMEREEREHNZERREEZR
E{A 2 BB E5 18 5442,00078 7T (2023 F -
156,0003%8 7T ) . 5,783,00078 7T (2023 4F :
3,089,000/ L) °

For the year ended 31st March, 2024
14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the Identified
ROU assets (Continued)

Management conducted impairment assessment on the recoverable amounts of
the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets as disclosed in this note and
note 15, with carrying amounts of HK$5,751,000 (2023: HK$3,113,000) and
HK$125,486,000 (2023: HK$78,425,000), net of accumulated depreciation
and impairment losses of HK$171,746,000 (2023: HK$175,454,000) and
HK$539,880,000 (2023: HK$455,658,000), respectively.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amounts of certain cash-generating units are lower than the
corresponding carrying amounts. The impairment amount has been allocated to
each category of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets such that the
carrying amount of each category of asset is not reduced below the highest of
its value in use, fair value less cost of disposal and zero. Based on the value in
use calculations and the allocation, impairment losses of HK$442,000 (2023:
HK$156,000) and HK$5,783,000 (2023: HK$3,089,000) have been recognised
against the carrying amounts of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets,
respectively.
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B ZE2024F3 8318 1EEE

14. EX BERREE)

ERblZ2ER - BMERREU
REeBBzEHAEEE ZRE
wHE ()

AETHRIETF REREBFINHEE
+ 4 7 BREE 72024 6 K 202343 A31H
YEAR  RRAHETHREETF A8
REBBINOEET B AFEERLEE
RARSESREERE@RE -

15. A&

REBIERAEEA

REERABUSEEHIINGBE 10 (E
EHR50F) —BEFRECELEM
REZSETHEENGER  BEAFEN

o
N

AEEFTBHEBEFTHANZEHTEESR -
MAEMERTENHEESL - TEEH
M ANEYEMNTEIBEE A1 Z23F (2023
F:124%F) MAENHBBE RIES
Fo—MBME  AEERAAAEEAIN
ATHEERDHEHEELE - BRIFTAS T
BEEHEEENAERENROEES
4 BAFBFE—SRMIT o

HE G E R EEER - LEE TR
R R fkft - NEEH B HI RAT AT
HHRNRER  ARBEERBAONESR
WEETE A PR BT AR -

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

14. Property, Plant and Equipment (Continued)

Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the Identified
ROU assets (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the leasehold land and buildings, motor vehicles and
leasehold land outside Hong Kong as at 31st March, 2024 and 2023 have not been
reduced since the amounts of fair value less costs of disposal of the leasehold land
and buildings, motor vehicles and leasehold land outside Hong Kong are higher

than their carrying amounts.

15. Leases

Group as a lessee

Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leasehold land outside Hong
Kong from the owners with lease periods of 50 years, and no ongoing payments
will be made under the terms of these land leases.

The Group has lease contracts for various items of retail stores, office properties
and motor vehicles in its operations. Leases of retail stores and office properties
generally have lease terms between 1 and 3 years (2023: between 1 and 4 years),
while motor vehicles generally have lease terms between 4 to 5 years. Generally,
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the
Group. There are several lease contracts that include extension options and variable
lease payments, which are further discussed below.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain different terms and
conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable.
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B E2024F3H31HIEFE

15. #HE(£E)

EEBEERFEBAE)
@ REARAE

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

15. Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

FEEN BEEER

HE L N RE et
Leasehold Retail stores
land outside and office Motor
Hong Kong  properties Vehicles Total
FAT FHAT FHT FAT
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
20226418 At Ist April, 2022 3,337 67,089 - 70,426
e B Exchange realignment (273) (123) = (396)
ANE(BEFXEEEERT2#%) Additions (including adjustments
arising from lease modification) - 87,811 - 87,811
HEZ#&IE Termination of leases - (60) - (60)
ERX Depreciation charge (118) (73,203) - (73,321)
BERERZBIEEE Impairment loss recognised - (3,089) - (3,089)
BEREYE Transferred to investment properties (362) - - (362)
202338318 K& At 31st March, 2023 and
2023F4H1H Ist April, 2023 2,584 78,425 - 81,009
[ 54, A =& Exchange realignment (111) 35) - (146)
AE(BIERAMESE2#%) Additions (including adjustments
arising from lease modification) - 146,096 3,331 149,427

HE &I Termination of leases - 3,522) - 3,522)
EMX Depreciation charge (111) (92,853) 173) (93,137)
BERERZBIEEE Impairment loss recognised - (5,783) - (5,783)
R202453H31H At 31st March, 2024 2,362 122,328 3,158 127,848

R2024F3A318 © AEBEKBEEE
2,362,0007% 7T (2023 4F : 2,584,00078 7T ) &9
FRABREE  URESAEEERTH—R
ERITEAS (BT EE29) ©

REE2023F3 8318 ILFE st AFEH
He& 7 B IR {E A362,00078 T2 1 5
BREEBREREYE - FAREEZRT
BB W 26,221,000 TC A K AB B IR 7L 1B
31,555,000 TE R ERHEEtbEE
AR o

As at 31st March, 2024, the Group has pledged right-of-use assets with a carrying
value of HK$2,362,000 (2023: HK$2,584,000) to secure general banking facilities
granted to the Group (note 29).

During the year ended 31st March, 2023, the land use rights included in right-of-
use assets with a carrying amount of HK$362,000 were transferred to investment
properties. The fair value gain of right-of-use assets of HK$6,221,000, and
the related deferred tax charge of HK$1,555,000 were recognised in other
comprehensive income at the date of transfer.
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B ZE2024F3 8318 1EEE

15. HEE)

AEBEEREBEAE)
@  EHREER)

R A EE 5,783,000 % 7T (2023 F :
3,089,000 7T ) Z BB R B & 5l 2 (&
FREEE - HFBENMEL4 -

(b ~ HERE
RAFE  HEAENEREERZSHN

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

15. Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year, impairment of HK$5,783,000 (2023: HK$3,089,000) was

recognised on the Identified ROU assets, details of which are included in note 14.

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as

I follows:
2024 2023
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$°000
F4) At the beginning of the year 91,069 102,077
R Exchange realignment (37) (31)
Mg New leases 45,682 22,182
NN E R 2 T SR Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 7,778 2,768
(NN Payments (101,421) (93,079)
HEEF] Lease modification 95,540 57,152
FR At the end of the year 138,611 91,069
DITR Analysed into:
mEE D Current portion 78,103 61,383
FETRBEB D Non-current portion 60,508 29,686
138,611 91,069
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BE2024F3H31HIEFE

15. #HE(E)

TEBEEREABAGE)

)  HEREHE)
HERBEZHBRAMOT

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

15. Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued)

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is as follows:

2024 2023

FER FHET

HK$°000 HK$’000

1 AA Within one year 78,103 61,383
F2F In the second year 57,678 23,589
EIEFESF(BREREMF) In the third to fifth years, inclusive 2,830 6,097
138,611 91,069

FEAREEEENMEFESESERER
RN F2.46%E7.81% (2023 4F : 2.46% %
5.73%) 5 -

R R B LS R A
BT E R TR T

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range
from 2.46% to 7.81% (2023: 2.46% to 5.73%) per annum.

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2024 2023

FHET FHET

HK$°000 HK$°000

oo HK$ 6,349 12,483
(©) RIEZETPHRANMEMBEAESEM  (¢)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

T~

2024 2023

FERT FHET

HK$°000 HK$°000

HEAERNE Interest on lease liabilities 7,778 2,768
FRELAEFERS Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 93,137 73.321
BTS2 K Gains on modification of leases (499) (7,594)
RIETHE 2 W Gains on termination of leases (755) (82)
HEHHEEEENRS Expense relating to short-term leases* 10,903 8,106

Tt AHE B EHE 2 A#BEMZK* Variable lease payments not included in the

measurement of lease liabilities™ 2,390 1,284

EREEEZRE Impairment of right-of-use assets 5,783 3,089
118,737 80,892

HEf2m g These items are included in “Selling and distribution costs” in the consolidated statement

J ZEFRBFAGREE

WARZ [HHERDHERA]A

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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B ZE2024F3 8318 1EEE

15. #HE(E)

TEBEREBAE)

d)  TRERERE
AEBERZATEEHEERFERRE
o ZSRERDARNSTERAEEEE
FAEETHNEEREEEERA - K
SEB AR R ERE TR AT
£ - BEHBEATEITE -

REBEREEMRMARFTERE B
ERTTREHEERE -

R2024F K2023FE3 8318 AEBE T &
REA R E 1T 2 AR -

(e) AEBBEAZRTEEMHRE
i EPEeEARAKETER
MEOEEENTEREN TG
e TXRHAMAEEEE
ENFHEFR - 85 EEE MK

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

15. Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(d) Extension options

The Group has extension options in a number of leases for retail stores. There are

used to maximise operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets used in the

Group’s operations. The majority of extension options held are exercisable only at
the option of the Group and not by the respective lessors.

The Group assesses at the lease commencement date whether it is reasonably

certain to exercise the extension options.

As at 31st March, 2024 and 2023, there are no extension options in which the
Group is not reasonably certain to exercise.

(e) The Group leases a number of retail stores and premises which contain
variable lease payment terms that are based on the Group’s turnover
generated from the retail stores. The following provides information on the
Group’s variable lease payments, including the magnitude in relation to

fixed payments:

BRARBE

ERREEA GIE-SNES st
Fixed payments Variable payment Total
THET THETT THET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

20244 2024
EEMe Fixed rents 10,903 - 10,903
Egis Variable rents only - 2,390 2,390
st Total 10,903 2,390 13,293

2023%F 2023
EEHE Fixed rents 8,106 - 8,106
ERE Yiika Variable rents only - 1,284 1,284
et Total 8,106 1,284 9,390

R2024F3B318 » TEEHEE
EEHEAN10% (202345 : 10% ) #5 & 5
FAE R FRARFEIE 1N0.1% (20235 -
0.1%) °

As at 31st March, 2024, a 10% (2023: 10%) increase in sales in the retail
stores would increase the total lease payments by 0.1% (2023: 0.1%).
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BE2024F3H31HIEFE

15. #HE(E)

TEBEEREABAGE)

® HENRSRHRBERGAUT
A M TE28(c) PR EE ©

AEEERHEA

AEBRBSEHETHHAEREDE
(B3E13) » BIEA R EBAIE (20234 :
off ) SAEE (L F2 518 (20234 = 41E) ¥ A K
LR AR B A B — & 40 2 A9 201E (2023 F -
2018) ZD - MEER—RERKMALE I
EHRS -

AEERAFERANESKAB
11,564,000 7 7T ( 2023 & : 9,950,000 /&
TT) - B BEN GRS MBS HRERMEES o

A 2 MEHEAAREEN F3EA
E5F(2023F  2fAAZ6F)HIZHEFP -
RAEIR - AEBERARRBEBED
AR S e B AP RER R ITIR
HERZOT :

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

15. Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(f) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 28(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 13) consisting of 9 (2023:
9) carparks and 5 (2023: 4) properties located in Hong Kong and 20 (2023:
20) portions of a property located in Chinese Mainland under operating lease
arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits.

Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was HK$11,564,000
(2023: HK$9,950,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

All of the properties held have committed tenants with terms that ranged from 3
months to 5 years (2023: 2 months to 6 years). At the end of the reporting period,
the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as follows:

2024 2023

FHER FET

HK$°000 HK$°000

1FA Within one year 8,802 10,036
FE2F In the second year 6,336 7,048
F3F In the third year 2,341 3,197
A In the fourth year 38 2,164
E5F In the fifth year - 1,622
s In the sixth year - 1,450
17,517 25,517

16. FENRERH it FE UK

16. Prepayments and Other Receivables

b |
2024 2023
FER FAET
HK$’000 HK$°000
TAfTFRIE Prepayments 3,375 4,043
H At FEMGRIE (K 5%) Other receivables (note) 2,320 5,166
5,695 9,209

Wit -

T A LI AR RS Bl A B B BN e R AT
B RBHACENERFIERR - R2024F &
2023F3A31H « BEBEELTHBEEN -

Note:

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there
was no recent history of default and past due amounts. As at 31st March, 2024 and 2023,
the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.
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16. FERIER H it FE UK
H(4E)

ZEEERIMN T HBEARZHERS
300,0007% 7T (20234 :300,000787T) © HEA
RAXERRE=MEE - BHEEHRAERS
WBREKEE -

17. FE&

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

16. Prepayments and Other Receivables (Continued)

The amount included a rental deposit paid to a related company of HK$300,000 (2023:
HK$300,000), which is beneficially owned by the substantial shareholder of the
Company. The balance is interest-free and repayable on demand.

17. Inventories

2024 2023
FHERT FET
HK$°000 HK$’000
JFRE Raw materials 3,085 3,077
R Work in progress 5,729 6,325
e Finished goods 97,687 83,773
106,501 93,175

18. FEWEB ZFI1E 18. Trade Receivables
2024 2023
FHERT FHET
HK$°000 HK$°000
EWE 5508 Trade receivables 5,969 8,377
B IR R R Impairment losses, net - (3,818)
5,969 4,559

AEEREMNNEE R BHHEBALE K
KA TFI0BE60R 2 (ZEH : M4 Tt
BREFZEEHNFT60HZE1208 AT
ERAREIR - REZAHEN 2 EK
BRI RO

The Group allows credit periods of 30 to 60 days for receivables from department
stores in which sales counters are located and credit periods of 60 to 120 days for
its wholesale customers. The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

2024 2023

FHER FHET

HK$°000 HK$°000

30 A Within 30 days 5,136 4,443
31Z260H 31 to 60 days 530 34
61290H 61 to 90 days 278 3
91Z£120H 91 to 120 days - =
#120H Over 120 days 25 79
5,969 4,559
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BE2024F3H31HIEFE

18. EWEZFHIE(E)

AEBREMNEAFUHEZTLA - &5EH
ERFPZBEEERE  UHHEBEERP
ZEEMR - XETEREPZEERE - K
SEERAERALHRIFANEZEPREHR
EEHE  YEHELRTEPZEER
o

2024 % 2023F3 A31H - AEEWE
EUWE SFERREBC ALY - BHD 8
BOOH A EMBREENHWAR REL - B
LB AT R ATHE AR - AN ARE
ERA/MEZEBHAEEAS - AEE
W Z ERBR A EAEARD o

FEUWE 5 7008 I E b e UK FRIB A L (E 5T
FEIBEHIRE33 -

19. RERBEEEER

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

18. Trade Receivables (Continued)

Before accepting any new wholesale customers, the Group assesses the potential
customers’ credit quality by investigating their historical credit record and defines
credit limits by customer. Credit sales are made to customers with a satisfactory
and trustworthy credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers are reviewed
regularly.

As at 31st March, 2024 and 2023, there are no trade receivables which were
past due as at the reporting date. The balances past due for 90 days or more are
not considered as in default. The directors of the Company consider that the
recoverability of these debts is high based on historical experience and taking into
consideration forward-looking information. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

Details of the impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set out in
note 33.

19. Cash and Cash Equivalents

2024 2023

FTHER FET

HK$°000 HK$°000

RS MIRITEER Cash and bank balances 8,537 38,097
EIRFER Pledged deposits 2,231 -
218 Subtotal 10,768 -
W BIRITIREER IR (A aE29) Less: pledged for banking facilities (note 29) (2,231) =
RekBFEEEIER Cash and cash equivalents 8,537 38,097

RAREHR  AEEBUARE(TAR
B ) EHE 2 B e RIRITA 82 5594,0007%8
TC(20234F : 4,436,000 7T) ° AREEREE
BRLBAEMER - A - REFEZ
GINEE B 1) i 15) K 468 P DA I S B T AT [ 5 3
RE AEEEEZBRUETINERS
¥BHRITIHARBE IR AEAEE -

BITEBTREERIT BT EILHRENT
82 RITN - AEB 2 BITHEBRITRIE
WATIRITIF FFEAN F0.001%Z£4.750%
(20234F : 0.001%%0.750% )5t 2.+ FRaTH]
RA3EASIAT -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank balances
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted to HK$594,000 (2023:
HK$4,436,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement,
and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations of the PRC, the Group
is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default. The Group’s bank balances and deposits carry interest at prevailing bank
deposit rates ranging from 0.001% to 4.750% (2023: 0.001% to 0.750%) per annum
and have an original maturity of three months or less.
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BIE20245F3A31HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2024
20 ENESZRIE 20. Trade Payables

NERERRENE FHHERIBEREZFH An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of each reporting period,

22 RE DT

30HA
31E60H
61Z90H
#90H

2 5 FIRRTEE
60 H Z EEHNEE

21, HMENSKERESE 21. Other Payables and Accruals

H

fEET & A
H At RS IR
EIRK AR
BHAME
H AR HHIR

A FERNERER Y
— B REA B

BIEAER >

based on the invoice date, is as follows:

Within 30 days
31 to 60 days
61 to 90 days
Over 90 days

L —RN30BE
30 to 60 days.

Accrued expenses

Other payables

Provision for reinstatement costs
Contract liabilities

Other taxes payable

Less: non-current portion
— Provision for reinstatement costs

Current portion

HiaE

Notes

(a)
(b)
(c)

2024 2023
FERT TET
HK$°000 HK$°000
16,401 8,214
10,267 7,027
3,016 175
936 27
30,620 15,443

Trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled on credit terms of

2024 2023
FHT FHT
HKS$’000 HK$°000
27,368 26,836
3,509 3,597
9,180 10,067
5,533 6,126
111 217
45,701 46,843
(3,523) (1,881)
42,178 44,962
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HZE2024%F3 8318 ILFE
21, HttENRERETE
R(&)

Byt

(a) HEfENRERTHE  B2RA
BREXREIEANKREEREE -

(b) REERERKABEZZEESNOT - (b) Movements in the Group’s provision for reinstatement costs are as follows:
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$°000
== )| At the beginning of the year 10,067 10,855
FEHE Provision during the year 680 324
EBRENKA Actual costs paid (1,567) (1,112)
9,180 10,067

FAN - BRRABELAT(2023F : T) R
680,000 7T (2023 4F :280,0007 7T) 2 9 B A
IREMERFREREAREE -

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

21. Other Payables and Accruals (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Other payables are non-interest-bearing and the amounts are repayable on
demand or settled on a credit term within 1 month.

During the year, provision for reinstatement costs of nil (2023: nil) and HK$680,000
(2023: HK$280,000) has been recorded in leasehold improvement and right-of-use
assets, respectively.

(c) ERNABZHBOAT - (c) Details of contract liabilities are as follows:
2024%F 20234F 20224
3A31H 3A31H 4A1H
31st March, 2024 31st March, 2023 Ist April, 2022
FTER FHT TAT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000

BREF 2 EEHBHR Short-term advances received from customers

ftmEE Retail sales of cosmetics 5,533 6,126 762

AHEEBRRERE AR KRZEER
Ko 2024 F A KB ER A (20234F : &) x
ZEHREFEREREFS 22 BB TR (2023
o Em) e

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received for the reservation of
cosmetics. The decrease (2023: increase) in contract liabilities in 2024 was mainly due
to the decrease (2023: increase) in short-term advances received from customers at the
end of the year.
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22, HMEE

RAEENERBERE  REBRITE
EFREMI%ET B R FR2025F £2026F

38 -

B

23. FERZEBRITEE

olidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

22. Other Borrowings

The loans from directors are unsecured, interest-bearing at HIBOR +1% and

repayable in 2025 to 2026.

23. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings

2024 2023
FHERT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
RITEX Bank overdraft 2,182 _
SRITER Bank loans 337,827 345,449
EOER Import loans 50,445 38,369
390,454 383,818

BEMIRITEERIZTIIER - The secured bank borrowings are repayable as follows:
2024 2023
FER FET
HK$°000 HK$’000

B REIRHREE 2 AS S5 . Principal amounts repayable based on
original maturity terms*:

BB On demand 2,182 -
1R Within one year 382,561 376,368
F2F In the second year 1,738 1,738
FIEESF(BIEEREMF) In the third to fifth years, inclusive 3,973 5,712
390,454 383,818
g ZECENIHBDERBEAER % The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan

agreements.
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BE2024F3H31HIEFE

23. STEZSRTERE(E

EEMNRASENATIINEEE

BT HKS$
eI USD
BT EUR

AEBEZEETIBINEREER  BERF
FE(TEREFTRAF )N T3.85%%E7.66%
(2023%F : 1.46%%6.63%)5tT 2 °

AEBMZERESRERERZIE - Bt
M2024F K2023F3 A31 BN AEREE

& o

202453 A318 @ NEBER —RERT
ZEBRL W R E 4R EE 88,009,000
JL o BTV EBRKABEN  MASEHE
ER2024 54 AR ERIRITER - WiZ
EHHHmERIIERY  REEITHEER
EfRIERITEA] o

BITEEUREEE TEE AT (W=
29) ©

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

23. Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings (Continued)

The carrying amounts of borrowings are dominated in the following currencies:

2024 2023
FET THET
HK$°000 HK$’000
390,309 382,491
145 857

- 470
390,454 383,818

The Group’s borrowings are floating-rate borrowings which carry interest at
effective interest rates (which are also equal to contracted interest rates) ranging
from 3.85% to 7.66% (2023: 1.46% to 6.63%) per annum.

The Group’s loans containing a repayment on demand clause hence shown as
current liabilities as at 31st March, 2024 and 2023.

At 31st March, 2024, the Group breached a debt covenant of a bank with an
aggregate loans amount of HK$88,009,000. Such bank did not require the
immediate repayments and the Group had fully repaid the bank loans in April 2024.
At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group did not breach any
bank covenants.

The bank borrowings are secured by certain assets of the Group (note 29).
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24, BB

RAFERBEFERN - MERZEENE

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

24. Provision

The following are the provision for onerous contracts recognised and its movement

BRBEREZEEOT during the current and prior years:
2024 2023
THET FHET
HK$°000 HK$°000
F) At the beginning of the year 584 593
FREE (25 Provided/(reversed) for the year 314 9)
Fx At the end of the year 898 584

EIEESOBREIREAAEEETHE
RHHENHEREATEEREL LB
HIEHS B B Ltk R REBRAR
ENTEERRGZEENEZ MR
FRAFRETT 2 FHE AR - REBREA
SEM S RRBHN A REHEESN 2
BHE W A A BE R AT A A
BRPEETEERNETRRESRE
BR - EERREEMPRETEEEH
RERE -

BRESHBEDIREAESENHHEAS
HHREMMARRRENTEEEETH
ETAHEEHAERRZITRR S RETEN
TR WENTFEF13.9% % 14.4% (2023
F 1 13.2%%E15.0%) 2 B AT IR R EITH
B KM BARERENEIERILES
¥EER - BEMNEERHETHEHRNSTA
BRAR - SEDHRBEFREREEE
HMBHEMNTER  CEREKIEESE
RRAZIERMETE » 202453 A318 -
B 18 1% & 495 5 898,000 7T (2023 F -
584,000 L) °

Provision for onerous contracts is made based on an assessment of the unavoidable
costs of meeting the obligations under the lease agreement, with short-term
leases, that exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it from
all underperforming retail stores of the cosmetics and fashion businesses. In
accordance with the Group’s accounting policies, the Group reviews the discounted
cash flow forecasts of all of the retail stores with short-term leases under the non-
cancellable clause in the respective lease agreements to determine whether there is

any indication of underperforming of the retail stores.

The provision for onerous contracts is calculated based on discounted cash flow
forecasts of all of the Group’s underperforming retail stores with short-term
leases to the end of the non-cancellable lease period and discounted with a pre-tax
discount rate ranging from 13.9% to 14.4% (2023: 13.2% to 15.0%) per annum.
Key assumptions used when determining the discounted cash flow forecasts
include revenue growth, gross profit margins and unavoidable costs that will be
incurred during the remaining lease period. Amounts are determined based on past
performance and management’s expectations on the market development, after
taking into consideration revenue and expenditure growth of the business. As at
31st March, 2024, the provision for onerous contracts was HK$898,000 (2023:
HK$584,000).
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25. EEFHIE

TXRAFERBEFEER

BEEE/(AfE) REE

202294818

iy =Eenlaakit[ S

A E 2 E A R F0RR
(HiaE13)

fE 5 AR

M2023F3831H K
2023F4A1H

Rz H R

b 5 A%

A2024F3831H

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

25. Deferred Tax

movements thereon during the current and prior years:

ZEERT The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised and the

RIBITE TR
ERMEE
Temporary
EfYE difference
Revaluation from tax et
of properties depreciation Total
FHET FET FET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
At 1st April, 2022 (16,280) 470 (15,810)
Charged to profit or loss (410) (84) (494)
Charged to other comprehensive
income (note 13) (1,947) - (1,947)
Exchange realignment 1,002 - 1,002
At 31st March, 2023 and
Ist April, 2023 (17,635) 386 (17,249)
Charged to profit or loss (1,050) (81) (1,131)
Exchange realignment 624 - 624
At 31st March, 2024 (18,061) 305 (17,756)
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25. EIEFIE(E)

WA A T IH B RRELERIREE -

BIAE A
AR E R =

A AR RN A A E £ 8722,413,000
75T (2023%F © 664,399,000/ 7T) + E AR
HEA - RIRPIE A /99,856,000 7T (2023
F 1 12,758,000%70) + EGAIFAER
A A B A b EE AR 9 8,741,000 7 7T (2023
F 114,302,000 7T) - HER1ESFAE
o A SHEE A 1 2 A RIM R SR B SRR
A o WSt BB B ERELREE - It
THER AR e A] A _Eil I8 B R ERR
FtomF) o

BRI EMERE - BB BRI 25
RRA B ERGINEEE TR B REE
BAN10% BT o B B AR E 72008 F 1
R1BRAER - WiEAMR2007F 128318
ZEMETF - i BN EFINEEE D
AVEARERFIARBIEL - AT = A RE
WM E - RASERS - BARER
5% (20235 : 5%) ° At - REEAR
B B B A R 2008451 A 1 B A& BrER & Fl14
IR BENTEN

R2024F3A318 + ANE B R RN B
RAIM AR 7 R T B B8R B = AR
A 2R I SR F i 1w R AR EFR B S
1843,019,00078 7T (20234 : 53,623,0007
70) - REARAR R B A St E KB A A
MR EECK  WEREBBHFATRETE
FEARBRDIK

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

25. Deferred Tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following items:

2024 2023

FTHERT FH&T

HK$°000 HK$°000

Tax losses 741,010 691,459
Deductible temporary differences 1,810 1,728
742,820 693,187

The above tax losses which included HK$722,413,000 (2023: HK$664,399,000)
arising in Hong Kong are available indefinitely; HK$9,856,000 (2023:
HK$12,758,000) arising in Macau will expire in three years; and HK$8,741,000
(2023: HK$14,302,000) arising in Chinese Mainland that will expire in one to five
years for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the above
items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be available against
which the above items can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in the PRC. The requirement is effective from Ist January, 2008 and
applies to earnings after 31st December, 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may
be applied if there is a tax treaty between Chinese Mainland and the jurisdiction
of the foreign investors. For the Group, the applicable rate is 5% (2023: 5%). The
Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by the PRC
subsidiaries in respect of their earnings generated from 1st January, 2008.

At 31st March, 2024, the Group has not recognised deferred tax liabilities of
HK$43,019,000 (2023: HK$53,623,000) in respect of temporary differences
relating to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries, that would be payable on the
distribution of these retained profits as the Company controls the dividend policy
of these subsidiaries and determines that it is not probable that these profits will be
distributed in the foreseeable future.
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26. B|RA 26. Share Capital
2024 2023
FBT FAET
HK$’000 HK$°000
JETE Authorised:
10,000,000,000(20234F : 10,000,000,000 (2023: 10,000,000,000)
10,000,000,000) f% & %0.01 7% 7T 2 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
R 100,000 100,000
EEITRER Issued and fully paid:
2,518,001,334(2023%F : 2,518,001,334 (2023: 2,518,001,334)
2,518,001,334) fx &A%0.0 T 2 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
LB 25,180 25,180

27. HBBIRHERTE

2023 F B RESTE

BRIEARQNFR2023F9A11BRITZRE
BFERELBBZLRRER  AAQA
R — BB ER B (2023 F BB AR AERT
2l]) BERAERSEEREMKS IE
BARAZBAEZ  WHELHEE AR
ARDBRERMD ZEEMEN  BUEAR
REAIRERREERZE - AQAEEER
ERBERAG LK B HAEE EL T
Z2EREE 2REERTWEMALS
HEBKRBRE2023FEHAIETE -

B #R2023F B AR RE AT B Sk AR R RIER AN 2 1
I EMhEERE & - BT EmEE A
IR MBI’ - AT T BBRNE
A EARRFE BITRN Z210% °

AR AERR R B T AT B ET L 10%BR 1 -
HEFREFATEBBANRELEZ X
NEIBBITRD Z210% °

27. Share Option Scheme
2023 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company on 11th September, 2023, a share option scheme (the “2023 Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company for the purpose of providing eligible
participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company
and encouraging participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company
and its shares for the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. All
directors, full-time employees and any other persons who, in the sole discretion of
the board of directors of the Company, have contributed or will contribute to the
Group are eligible to participate in the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under
the 2023 Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme adopted by the
Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue
on the date of adoption.

The Company may renew this 10% limit with shareholders’ approval provided that
each such renewal may not exceed 10% of the shares in the Company in issue as at
the date of the shareholders’ approval.
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27. BBKRRESHEI(AE)

2023 F R ERT 8 (F)

FRIEEVS AR BRI BLE - BRITEFEM 12
8B EARIA - 1R152023 F B A 5T 812k A
ARIRPNZ R EA BB - BITE
ME2EERRLZBRE(BIEEITE
R ARITEBEREE) MBITRIETETH
ARERHBE - TSEBBARRBDET
IR 2 1% °

BREZTEMEBAARRANR L RS
E o AR SERBRER T B e
L0F&fEm - RIXHBARER - AR E]A
BEAETERAARABREZREMR -
EHBEREZZOARNAZSEEZLR
B EL KB BERTR021 B ARES - M
REABRER A N BT -

TR AR R S T 21T 2 AR B R 5 O R
BE THRERTIBEZ&ESE ORE
WA ARFBOHRBRMEL 2SR
WERZBOWTHE  (()REZLH AR
SERNBARRBBRNRERMELZE
HRERZBMHFHRTE © RGN E
DR ARRRMHEE - KARAEES
M2 E R B RN EEREE -

FEER 2023 F B AR M AT BI10IR 5 2 A Hi1&
RRAB T EREFT B DRBRE -

REZE2024F3 318 IEEER - AR A
BMERIR2023FERETEIRNARFES
B BEARAE o

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

27. Share Option Scheme (Continued)
2023 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total number of shares of
the Company issued and to be issued upon the exercise of the options granted to
each participant (including both exercised and unexercised options) under the 2023
Share Option Scheme or any other share option scheme adopted by the Company in
any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in issue.

The period within which the options must be exercised will be specified by the
Company at the time of grant. This period must expire no later than 10 years from
the date of grant of the options. At the time of grant of the options, the Company
may specify a minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be
exercised. The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21 days
from the date on which the letter containing the offer is delivered to that participant
and the amount payable on acceptance of an option is HK$1.

The subscription price for the shares of the Company to be issued upon exercise of
the options shall be no less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of
the Company as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
on the date of offer; (ii) the average closing price of the shares of the Company
as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of offer; and (iii) the nominal value
of a share of the Company on the date of offer. The subscription price will be
established by the board of directors of the Company at the time when the option is
offered to the participants.

No options may be granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme after the date of
the tenth anniversary of the adoption of the scheme.

No options were granted to the directors of the Company for the years ended 31st
March, 2024 under the 2023 Share Option Scheme.
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27. BBKRRESHEI(AE)

2013F B IR AERT &

RIFAR G R2013F8 A30H BT 2 B’RE
BAFEFRG BB ERRER  ARQdA
M — IR R ERT 81 ([2013F B AR &
2 FEENAKRBESZREERES
E28%E - Mzt 271202368 A30H
JE o BEEE — SR REBIRZE2013F
ARAESTEI T AR S -

TREBEAEEEEFRERE03ER
RSt BIE I 7 B AR I R SR AR
288 -

REZE2024F3A31HIEFEA :

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

27. Share Option Scheme (Continued)
2013 Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting of the
Company on 30th August, 2013, a share option scheme (the “2013 Share Option
Scheme”) was adopted by the Company for the primary purpose of providing
incentives to, among other participants, directors and eligible employees and
expired on 30th August, 2023. No further share options would be granted under
2013 Share Option Scheme.

The following tables disclose details of options granted under the 2013 Share
Option Scheme held by employees of the Group and movements in such holdings.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024:

RitBH
Date of grant

0751798
9th January, 2017

2%1A9A
29th January, 2021

WUF1A9A
29th January, 2021

N2E2A16H
16th February, 2022

20027168
16th February, 2022

A RERATE

Exercisable at the end of the year

MEFATHE

Weighted average exercise price

AR
Vesting period

WITE1A9EE
ANFIASH
9th January, 2017 to

8th January, 2022

MU5189A%
N4E1A2H
29th January, 2021 to

28th January, 2024

MIEIFWAZ
20061 A28
29th January, 2021 to

28th January, 2026

N0F2H16RE
2025524158

16th February, 2022 to
15th February, 2025

WF2R16RE
ANF2A15H

16th February, 2022 to
15th February, 2027

#0235 REE REER REER RUME
) 418 g "X i 3A31H
SRTEE ki Granted Lapsed Cancelled HAITE
M Exercise price Balance at during during during  Outstanding at
Exercise period per share ~ Ist April, 2023 the year the year the year 315t March, 2024
NNFIAIRE 0183257 2,500,000 - (2,500,000) - -
202451 A8 HK$0.1832
9th January, 2022 to
8th January, 2024
NUEIAVYEE 0.05347% T 16,800,000 - - - 16,800,000
2026515288 HK$0.0534
29th January, 2024 to
28th January, 2026
26F1A9AF 0053437 16,800,000 - - (350,000) 16,450,000
ABF1A8HA HKS0.0534
29th January, 2026 to
28th January, 2028
2005528160% 0050637 5,150,000 - - - 5,150,000
02752815 HK$0.0506
16th February, 2025 to
15th February, 2027
WIELAI6BE 0050637 5,150,000 - - - 5,150,000
2029524158 HKS0.0506
16th February, 2027 to
15th February, 2029
46,400,000 - (2,500,000) (350,000) 43,550,000
16,800,000
0.0598 - 0.1832 0.0534 0.0527
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27. BBKRRESHEI(AE)

2013 F B RERHEI(E)
REZE2023F3A31HILEFEA :

RAAH
Date of grant

WITFIAYE
9th January, 2017

WUF1A9A
29th January, 2021

MIE1A9H
29th January, 2021

AnF2A16H
16th February, 2022

N0252A16H
16th February, 2022

RERTTE

Exercisable at the end of the year

METATEE

Weighted average exercise price

RAERS
Vesting period

WITFIAIRE
200251738
9th January, 2017 to

8th January, 2022

WUFIAVAE
0UF1ABA
29th January, 2021 to

28th January, 2024

WUFIFYRE
200651 828R
29th January, 2021 to

28th January, 2026

NWNEIR16EE
025524150
16th February, 2022 to

15th February, 2025

NWNEIA16EE
027524150
16th February, 2022 to

15th February, 2027

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

27. Share Option Scheme (Continued)

2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)
During the year ended 31st March, 2023:

g REER REER #a03%
) 418 i X 3A31H
i BRTEE &R Granted Lapsed WETE
T Exercise price Balance at during during  Outstanding at
Exercise period per share It April, 2022 the year the year  31st March, 2023
NNEIAIEE 0183237 2,500,000 - - 2,500,000
20451 A8H HK$0.1832
9th January, 2022 to
8th January, 2024
N4E1RWAZ 0053487 18,000,000 - (1,200,000) 16,800,000
2026F1A28H HK$0.053
29th January, 2024 to
28th January, 2026
26F1A9RF 0053477 18,000,000 - (1,200,000) 16,800,000
202851 A28 HK$0.0534
29th January, 2026 to
28th January, 2028
N5F2R16HZ 00506570 5,150,000 - - 5,150,000
0752A158 HK$0.0506
16th February, 2025 to
15th February, 2027
NEIR16AE 00506757 5,150,000 - - 5,150,000
29524158 HK$0.0506
16th February, 2027 to
15th February, 2029
48,800,000 - (2,400,000) 46,400,000
2,500,000
0.595 - 0.0334 0.0398
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27. BBKRRESHEI(AE)

2013F R ERT 8 (4F)

HE2024F3831BILFERN > WEBER
WEETTE (20234 « &) o

REBREEANEZ2024F3 318 ILFE
HARNRBRE ZITEASEERIESRZ
RIS £155,00075 7T (2023 4F © 174,00078%
JL) °

HE2024F3A3BLFEERKEEZSE
B HREZIERR  TEBRECXK
o

N

RAREH R - A2 A F 43,550,000
(2023 4F : 46,400,000) 152013 F B8 A% £ &+
ZI T HARITEOERE - REBERNARER
BE AR - BEITE M RITE 2 ERE
#8 L 2NN R RE SN EE1743,550,000 (2023 F -
46,400,000 ) % 3 38 f% K2 435,5007% T (2023
£ 1 464,000 7T ) BURR A A F2 1,861,000 7T
(2023%F : 2,309,000 70 ) H A1 S5 & (K30
MREITER) o

REEHHHRZUERR  AQRIHEE
43,550,000 15 2013 F i At 5+ &1 T M R 1T
FRRERLAE - (R AR RN Z BB BEITRG
#91.7% °

RE E20244F K 2023F3 A31 B I FE
A AR RERE2013FEIE A
AAREBR I BRE -

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

27. Share Option Scheme (Continued)
2013 Share Option Scheme (Continued)

No share options were exercised during the year ended 31st March, 2024
(2023: Nil).

The Group recognised the total expense of HK$155,000 for the year ended 31st
March, 2024 (2023: HK$174,000) in relation to the vesting of share options
granted by the Company.

Subsequent to the year ended 31st March, 2024 and up to the date of approval of
these financial statements, no share options were lapsed.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 43,550,000 (2023:
46,400,000) share options outstanding under the 2013 Share Option Scheme. The
exercise in full of the outstanding share options would, under the present capital
structure of the Company, result in the issue of 43,550,000 (2023: 46,400,000)
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional share capital of
HK$435,500 (2023: HK$464,000) and share premium of HK$1,861,000 (2023:
HK$2,309,000) (before issuing expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had 43,550,000
share options outstanding under the 2013 Share Option Scheme, which represented

approximately 1.7% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.

No options were granted to the directors of the Company for the years ended 31st
March, 2024 and 2023 under the 2013 Share Option Scheme.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

28. SZEBERERZME 28. Notes To The Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows

(a EEHFBAETXRS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

REAFER AEBRSEEHRAE During the year, the Group had non-cash additions including adjustments
FTEEHREAEREFEREEERME arising from lease modification to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities
ERBsHEBIMEEANARS A of HK$149,427,000 (2023: HK$87,811,000) and HK$141,222,000 (2023:
149,427,000 & 7T ( 2023 £ : 87,811,000 HK$79,334,000), respectively, in respect of retail stores and motor vehicles.

& JT ) K& 141,222,000 7 JT (2023 F ¢

79,334,000/ 7T) °

(b) BMEXKELENAEEEH (b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

R2022F4A18
BERSRFE
BEMHEE BBINEE
FEFE

NEREEEBRERENENME

ERIECE:

720233 A31H K%20235F4F1H

RMERSNFHE
BRI MFEE BEINEE
FEMAX

NEREEEBREROE TG

[ 5 R

20243 A31H

156

Hifd & FEZBITHEE HEAE
Other Interest-bearing
borrowing bank borrowings  Lease liabilities

FHET TET TET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
At 1st April, 2022 - 371,886 102,077
Financing cash flows, net 13,790 11,932 (90,311)
New lease entered/lease modified - - 79,334
Interest expenses - - 2,768
Interest paid classified as operating cash
flows = = (2,768)
Exchange realignment - - (31)
At 31st March, 2023 and Ist April, 2023 13,790 383,818 91,069
Financing cash flows, net 23,660 6,636 (93,643)
New lease entered/lease modified - - 141,222
Interest expenses - - 7,778
Interest paid classified as operating cash
flows - - (7,778)
Exchange realignment - - 37)
At 31st March, 2024 37,450 390,454 138,611
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28. ZAHEHKRERZME 28. Notes To The Consolidated Statement Of Cash Flows
(%) (Continued)
(c) HEREHRHBEE (¢) Total cash outflow for leases
2024 2023
FB5 Fit5
HK$’000 HK$’000
REEBNA Within operating activities 21,071 12,158
BMEEBNA Within financing activities 93,643 90,311
114,714 102,469
29. EEEH 29. Pledge of Assets

RARE IR - RNEBIERTE TIRITA At the end of the reporting period, the following assets were pledged by the Group
BEERTASEN—RIBTREMNEEN  to certain banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group:

T
2024 2023
Hiat FET FET
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
REME Investment properties 13 552,651 472,456
et RIEF Leasehold land and buildings 14 12,766 33,116
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15(a) 2,362 2,584
EIRTF Pledged deposits 19 2,231 -
570,010 508,156
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30. BEEARS

(a) BTIZSHBEREEMBIDFu
TRS  REBMPKEE G

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

30. Related Party Transactions

(a) 1In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in these financial

statements, the Group had the following transactions with related parties

TEREMR RS during the year:

2024 2023
FER FAET
HK$°000 HK$°000

XHME Nature of transactions
BREGHEE 2B X * Expenses relating to short-term leases* 1,800 1,316
NFEENTE Interest paid to directors 1,110 472
& ZERBBAANRHITESTHEX & The entity is controlled by Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny, an executive director

A

by FTEBEAE2@EHE
WAREER  BEEREMIBERABY
HET -

of the Company.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the
year was as follows:

2024 2023

FTHER FHET

HK$°000 HK$°000

SEEER Short-term benefits 5,362 5,336
&Rz A Post-employment benefits 121 121
LARR 1 A B A 2 (Bt Share-based payments 47 49
5,530 5,506

BEERTZERABZEMKE 2B
mEFHEZE R FENRARTLBEM
MEESRHES

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management is
recommended to the board of directors by the remuneration committee having

regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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31. REREINEMIA 31. Financial Instruments by Category

RIEHR KBRS T A ZEEER The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as at the

T end of the reporting period are as follows:
2024 2023
FTER FHET
HK$°000 HK$°000
RBEH AT B B E Financial assets at amortised cost
BfRHEES RKEEZES Rental and utility deposits paid 39,273 37,555
RIS E 5 708 Trade receivables 5,969 4,559
H h fE UK IR Other receivables 752 4,033
EHRFR Pledged deposits 2,231 =
RekReEHEEA Cash and cash equivalents 8,537 38,097
56,762 84,244
BB EH AT EC A E Financial liabilities at amortised cost
JERTE 5 I8 Trade payables 30,620 15,443
HAh A FIE R E B Other payables and accruals 15,781 13,966
Blfeke Rental deposits received 2,515 3,227
STEZBITEE Interest-bearing bank borrowings 390,454 383,818
HiEE Other borrowings 37,450 13,790
HEBE Lease liabilities 138,611 91,069
615,431 521,313

159



160

e PR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B ZE2024F3 8318 1EEE
2. SWMIAQAFEERRD
TEEER

ERENGERERASEMEERR - ERF
FREESTIE  ENESFE B
HeRKERSAHLY - HARKK
B HENFARESER  SRES
Be  HEEAREZRITEEZA
FEERAREERS  TEANZET
AT A EIE -

FEEUMBEERENMBHMPARE
EEMTEARATVEEFENBRIEER °
MBREERNEEZERERZEER
EoREWREAY - MBHAOMESRT
ANEEEHUBEHEMERNEES
o HEREESERLME - HEBER
REREABEZZ B BFIHRMRIAENT
TR FERABRE

SREENBENAFEERERT ZH

VERIR 5 (REFBEHERIN) P AIEZ
BTANSEIR - B AFEERESR
AT AR BR

ENEERE ZIFANARLLTBBERE
BROGER - EERBRERSIR B A
SR RTREMARREREAE -

20244 K 2023F3 A31H » ANEE I &
FRZEAFEEFEZECREE - RF
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
32. Fair Value and Fair Value Hierarchy of Financial
Instruments

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, pledged
deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, current portion of rental and utility deposits
paid, other receivables, other payables and accruals, rental deposits received, other
borrowings and interest-bearing bank borrowings approximate to their carrying

amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer is responsible
for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The chief financial officer reports directly to the board of
directors and the audit committee. At each reporting date, the finance department
analyses the movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the board of directors. The valuation process and results are discussed with the
audit committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing
parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following methods and
assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of rental deposits paid have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates currently

available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at 31st
March, 2024 and 2023. During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3
for both financial assets and financial liabilities (2023: Nil).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s financial instruments include trade receivables, other receivables,
rental and utility deposits paid, cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, trade
payables, other payables and accruals, rental deposits received, interest-bearing

bank borrowings, other borrowings and lease liabilities.

The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk
(represented by interest rate risk and foreign currency risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the short-term bank balances and deposits (note 19), interest-bearing
bank borrowings (note 23) and other borrowings (note 22) with floating interest
rate. It is the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at floating interest rate so as to
minimise the fair value interest rate risk. The exposure to the interest rate risk for

short-term bank balances is insignificant.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of HIBOR (“Hong Kong Inter-bank Offered Rate”) and SOFR (“Secured Overnight
Financing Rate”) arising from the Group’s bank loans. The Group currently does
not have any interest rate hedging policy in relation to fair value and cash flow
interest rate risks. However, management monitors interest rate exposure on an
ongoing basis and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the
need arise.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to
interest rates of bank and other loans. The analysis is prepared assuming the
amount of liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period was outstanding
for the whole year. A 50 (2023: 50) basis point increase or decrease represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
If interest rates had been 50 (2023: 50) basis point higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31st
March, 2024 would increase/decrease by HK$1,786,000 (2023: post-tax profit
would decrease/increase by HK$1,659,000).
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures arise from
interest-bearing bank borrowings and purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. In addition, group entities are exposed
to foreign currency risk attributable to intra-group receivables and payables where
the denomination of the receivables and payables is in currencies other than the

functional currency of the relevant group entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However,
management closely monitors the foreign exchange exposure and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

The Group’s currency risk is mainly attributable to the exposure to cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other payables, interest-bearing
bank borrowings, other borrowings and intra-group receivables and payables
denominated in RMB, HK$ and USD. The carrying amounts at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

BE a&

Assets Liabilities
2024 2023 2024 2023
FET FHT FHET T
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
7 45 - _
40,941 49,109 6,965 12,714
1,906 10,932 145 857

Sensitivity analysis
As HKS$ is pegged to USD, the Group does not expect any significant movements

in the USD/HKS$ exchange rate. In this regard, the Group does not expose to
significant currency risk arising from USD.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting period

to a reasonably possible change in the RMB and HK$ exchange rates, with all other

variables held constant, of the Group’s profit/loss after tax due to changes in the

fair values of the Group’s outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary

items, intra-group receivables and payables where the denomination of the

receivables and payables is in currencies other than the functional currency of the

SEUEBEEE QR 2 s

TERESDHH -

20244
ST ARBE(E

BT AREFHE

20235
WETHARKEE

i BT AREFHE

“EE)Z N relevant group entities.

2024

If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against
the RMB

If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens
against the RMB

2023

If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against
the RMB

If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens
against the RMB

LR (TR)
Increase/
(decrease) in
HKS rate
ERild

%

()]

B ITER
LR (THE)
Increase/
(decrease) in
HKS rate
ERaNsd

%

(%)

KRB BEE
#m, Crd)
Increase/
(decrease) in
loss after tax
FET
HK$°000

(1,419)

1,419

MRBE %R T
#mn, (R)
Increase/
(decrease) in
profit after tax
FAET
HK$°000

1,521

(1,521)
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Credit Risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to
the Group due to the failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties arises
from the carrying amounts of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its

financial assets.

The Group performed impairment assessment for financial assets under the ECL
model. Information about the Group’s credit risk management, maximum credit
risk exposures and the related impairment assessment, if applicable, is summarised

below:

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a
team responsible for the determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that a follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model
on trade receivables individually for debtors. The estimated loss rates are estimated
based on historical observed default rates over the expected lives of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information, including but not limited to the
expected growth rate of the industry that is available without undue cost or effort.
In this regard, the directors o the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical location is mainly in

Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.

The credit risks on bank balances and deposits are limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. Other than the concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with good reputation and high credit ratings,
the Group does not have any other significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and customers.

The Group has considered that credit risk on other receivables, rental and utility
deposits paid, bank balances and deposits has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and has assessed the ECL rate under the 12-month (“12m”) ECL
method based on the Group’s assessment in the risk of default of the respective
counterparties.
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(&)

FERRGE

AEBEZAREERR

5

Ez
Category

1R = B

Low risk

BreE

Watch list

7 &R

Doubtful

&8

Loss

Write-off

ARSI RIEAT

For the year ended 31st March, 2024

(Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

categories:

P

Description

HHHTENRRBE - BI EERREA

The counterparty has a low risk of default and
does not have any past-due amounts

B AREERBHREBEN

Debtor frequently repays after the due dates
but usually settles in full after the due dates

EERRBFEBARRZILNERRINIE RS
AR ARG N
There has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
external resources

BREBEERTEECFEERE

There is evidence indicating that the asset is
credit-impaired

BRBRTEBARNRRYHNE - BAREE
I BB HR UL B A AT AE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is
in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery

FEW 8 % RE

Trade receivables

EHEHEERE-

I A= SRR
Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

EHEHEERE-

I A= EORE
Lifetime ECL —

not credit-impaired

> HEREERR -
EEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

EHEHEERE-
EiEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

SORE MY

Amount is written off

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the following

HitEBmEE

Other financial assets

1218 A EHE S &8

12m ECL

1218 A EHE S B8

12m ECL

> HEAEERR -
BEfEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

EHEHEERE-
EfEERE

Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired

IR M

Amount is written off
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

33.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s financial assets,
which are subject to ECL assessment:

1248 A 5 20245 20235
SMEREERTAR RS EAR EHAEMEEER EEEz%ﬁ @EE;S'%
External Internal 12m or Gross carrying  Gross carrying
credit rating credit rating lifetime ECL amount amount
FER FAT
HK$°000 HK$’000
TER Biti EHRAEEEE - 5,969 4,559
T EESRE
N/A Note i Lifetime ECL —
not credit-impaired
iR B Ti FHEHESERE- - 3,818
EEERE
N/A Note i Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
TEA B i REAEHREEER 752 4,033
N/A Note ii 12m ECL
Aa3ZE AL Bt i REAESREERER 2,231 =
Aa3 to Al Note ii 12m ECL
AB3EAI B i RIEAREREEESE 8,537 38,097
Aa3 to Al Note ii 12m ECL
0 il BT 128 ATRBEEER 39,273 37,555
N/A Note ii 12m ECL
Notes:

i

ii.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS
9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the
ECL for trade receivables based on individual assessment. As at 31st March,
2024, the Group considers that the allowance for ECL for trade receivables is nil
(2023: HK$3,818,000).

For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group has applied the
general approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at 12m ECL as
there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The Group
determines the ECL for other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, pledged
deposits, and rental and utility deposits paid by assessment of probability of
default. During the years ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023, in view of the
nature of these balances, historical settlement records and good reputations of
the counterparties, the Group considers the provision for impairment losses for
other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, pledged deposits, and rental and
utility deposits paid is insignificant.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

(Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed individually as at 31st March, 2024 within lifetime
ECL. Credit-impaired debtors with a gross carrying amount of nil as at 31st March,

2024 (2023: HK$3,818,000) were assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount

At 31st March, 2024

Internal credit rating
Low risk

Watch list

Doubtful

At 31st March, 2023

Internal credit rating
Low risk

Watch list

Doubtful

# The percentage was lower than 0.1%

FiEEE
Average
loss rate

100 %

FHEIE R
Average
loss rate

100%

BWE S &E
Trade
receivables
FE T
HK$°000

5,969

5,969

EWE 558
Trade
receivables

TET
HK$°000

4,559

3,818

8,377
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Credit Risk (Continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the trade receivables within low
risk and watch list at the end of the reporting period which have been past due over
90 days are not considered as in default by considering the expected subsequent
and historical repayment from trade debtors.

For the years ended 31st March, 2024 and 2023, the Group performed impairment
assessment on financial assets other than trade receivables and concluded that
the probability of default of the counterparty is insignificant and accordingly, no
allowance for ECL is provided.

The following table shows the movements in lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) that

has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

=
2024 2023
FET FHET
HK$°000 HK$’000

F1) At the beginning of the year 3,818 4,009
B2 (B8 B (Reversal)/provision of impairment (3,381) 128
EREE Exchange realignment 437) (319)
FLR At the end of the year - 3,818
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)
Liquidity risk
In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. Management
monitors the utilisation of secured bank borrowings (note 23) to ensure unutilised
banking facilities are adequate and ensure compliance with loan covenants or to
obtain waiver from the relevant banks if the Group is not able to satisfy any of
the covenant requirements. When there is any potential breach of undertaking or
financial covenants, the Group will actively negotiate with the bank to obtain a
waiver for the relevant undertaking or financial covenants to avoid the bank from
requesting for immediate repayment of any outstanding bank borrowings drawn
under the facility, such that the facility and bank borrowings will continue to be
available to the Group. As at 31st March, 2024, the Group has unutilised banking
facilities of HK$45,983,000 (2023: HK$39,447,000) available.

During the year ended 31st March, 2024, the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$40,043,000 from operations and as at 31st March, 2024, the Group’s
current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$387,756,000 (2023:
HK$331,859,000). In addition, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
HK$8,537,000 (2023: HK$38,097,000) with total bank borrowings due within
one year or contain a repayable on demand clause amounting to HK$390,454,000
(2023: HK$383,818,000).

The Group successfully renewed the banking facilities that were due during the
year. The directors of the Company have evaluated the Group’s current undrawn
banking facilities and renewable bank borrowings and management maintains
continuous communication with the Group’s principal banks on the ongoing loan
covenant compliance, monitoring the maturity of bank borrowings as well as the
increase of banking facilities or redemption of existing debt.

Subsequent to the year end, on 3rd June, 2024, the directors of the Company
provided a loan facility of up to HK$350,000,000 to a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group (note 34) to provide working capital for the normal course of business
of the Group and to repay the loans under the Group’s banking facilities so as to
reduce loan interest.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The directors of the Company have evaluated all the relevant facts available and
reviewed the Group’s bank loans and banking facilities available to the Group. In
opinion of the directors of the Company that the bank loans and banking facilities
would be renewed when their current terms expire. Up to the date of approval of
these consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company are not aware
of any intention of the Group’s principal banks to withdraw their banking facilities
granted or request early repayment of the utilised facilities within the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

Despite the uncertainties mentioned in note 2.1, the directors of the Company
consider that, after taking into account the cash and cash equivalents, existing
banking facilities, a loan facility from the directors of the Company and cash flows
to be generated from operations, the Group will have sufficient funds to meet its
financial obligations for at least the next twelve months from the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements.

The following tables detail the Group’s contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings containing a repayment on demand
clause are included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-derivative

financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment dates.

The tables include both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent that interest
flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is derived from the interest rate
curve at the end of the reporting period.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024

33. BEEREEBAEREK 33

BE2024F3H31HIEFE
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ABZRITEE
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Liquidity risk (Continued)

2024

Trade and other payables

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
— variable rate

Other borrowings

Lease liabilities

2023

Trade and other payables

Interest-bearing bank borrowings
— variable rate

Other borrowing

Lease liabilities

METIIF =
Weighted
average
interest rate
R

%

6.64
5.80
6.32

IIETFE R =
Weighted
average
interest rate
Bl

%

3.11
4.14
3.69

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

R20245F

RERS AFERS 3A31R
DPRE TELE ZIREE

On demand Total Carrying
or less than 15225 26 Z5%  undiscounted amount
lyear 1to2years 2toSyears  cashflows at31.3.2024
THT TET TET TET TET
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
48,916 - - 48,916 48,916
416,380 - - 416,380 390,454

- 40,950 - 40,950 37,450

83,036 63,228 3,507 149,771 138,611
548,332 104,178 3,507 656,017 615,431
#2023

REXK AFTRESE 3A31H
DRIE MELE ZIREE

On demand Total Carrying
or less than 1E525 29 %5%  undiscounted amount
lyear 1to2years 2toS years cash flows  at 31.3.2023
AT T THT FHT THT
HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
32,636 - - 32,636 32,636
390,463 - - 390,463 383,818

- 14,602 - 14,602 13,790

63,648 24,906 6,921 95,475 91,069
486,747 39,508 6,921 533,176 521,313
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included in the “on
demand or less than 1 month” time band in the above maturity analysis. As at 31st
March, 2024, the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank borrowings amounted
to HK$390,454,000 (2023: HK$383,818,000). Taking into account the Group’s
financial position, the directors of the Company do not believe that it is probable
that the banks will exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors believe that such bank borrowings will be repaid within
four years (2023: five years) after the end of the reporting period in accordance
with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of which
are set out in the table below:

HHAAN - ARERERANZRTREE(RBERR AH23))

Maturity analysis - Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

BRERY RRRE
SRR it
On demand or MEREIE SEBLE Total BaE
less than 123f8A 3 months 1226 225 Morethan  undiscounted Carrying
I'month  1to3 months tolyear  Ito2years  2to5 years Syears  cash outflow amount
TEn TEn TEn TERL TEL TER TEn TEn
HKS$ 000 HKS$ 000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$"000 HKS"000 HKS'000 HK$°000
R2024E3A31R As at 31st March, 2024 386,872 4,258 19,160 1,353 4,237 - 416,380 390,454
R23E3A31R As at 31st March, 2023 362,056 301 19,910 1,892 6,104 - 390,463 383,818
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For the year ended 31st March, 2024
33. Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
(Continued)

Capital management

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes interest-
bearing bank borrowings disclosed in note 23, net of cash and cash equivalents and
equity attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, comprising issued share
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As
part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through monitoring the maturity of
interest-bearing bank borrowings as well as the increase of banking facilities.

34. Event After the Reporting Period

On 3rd June, 2024, Colourmix Cosmetics Company Limited (the “Borrower”),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a loan agreement with the
directors of the Company, Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and Ms. Lam Yuk
Sum (collectively, the “Lenders”), pursuant to which the Lenders agree to make
a revolving loan facility of up to HK$350,000,000 available to the Borrower. For
further details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 4th June,
2024.
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BIE20245F3A31HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2024
35. AARMBARRFK 35. Statement of Financial Position of the Company
2024 2023
Fix FAT
HK$’°000 HK$°000
FRBEE Non-current Assets
B N Bl Interests in subsidiaries 53,631 53,631
REEE Current Assets
H fth FEU R IE Other receivables 348 378
IS IENEIVE N Due from subsidiaries 299,933 315,156
RITHEBRR S Bank balances and cash 43 46
300,324 315,580
REBAE Current Liabilities
H A R FIE Other payables 842 820
KMIB AR ZFIB Due to subsidiaries 222,381 222,418
223,223 223,238
REEEZE Net Current Assets 77,101 92,342
EEZRE Net Assets 130,732 145,973
= Equity
AR Share capital 25,180 25,180
(A ) Reserves (note) 105,552 120,793
W Total Equity 130,732 145,973
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HZE2024F3A31H L6 E For the year ended 31st March, 2024
35. DR BRRRE 35. Statement of Financial Position of the Company
(Continued)
Btet - Note:
RERE BABHR  BRERSG 2ERER A&t
Share
Share Contributed option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
TERT FHET FHEL TET TEL

HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000

202254 A1H At Ist April, 2022 223,654 53,135 291 (153,673) 123,407
AEEBEREZEER Loss and total comprehensive loss for
the year - - - (2,776) (2,776)
BREREEZARMAER ZER  Recognition of equity-settled share-based
payments - - 174 - 174
BRMZ BRE Share options lapsed - - (12) - (12)
R2023F3A318 K At 31st March, 2023 and 1st April, 2023
20234 718 223,654 53,135 453 (156,449) 120,793
AEEEEREZHEE Loss and total comprehensive loss for
the year - - - (2,803) (2,803)
REGEEZARAAEE ZEN  Recognition of equity-settled share-based
payments - - 155 - 155
BRMZ BIRE Share options lapsed - - (3) - 3)
ERRE Dividend paid (12,590) - - - (12,590)
R202453A318 At 31st March, 2024 211,064 53,135 605 (159,252) 105,552
36. #HtZBKEHRK 36. Approval of the Financial Statements

EEFEEN2024F6 A25H X N XESE  The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of
N E directors on 25th June, 2024.
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Financial Summary

E 45 RESULTS
HZEIANALEE
Year ended 31st March,
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TR THT TR THT THER
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
EL REVENUE 1,042,397 517,246 499,849 472,625 586,710
BB (BR) %87 (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX (255,678) (179,319) (52,431) 6,109 (38,411)
ANEHEX INCOME TAX EXPENSE (2,770) (5,563) (935) (1,082) (1,632)
EE(FR) %5 (LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR (258,448) (184,882) (53,366) 5,027 (40,043)
EEHEE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
R3A318
At 31st March,
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
TR T TR THT TET
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
EEAR TOTAL ASSETS 1,129,530 812,025 759,450 772,588 867,600
aELE TOTAL LIABILITIES (775,166) (615,609) (560,039) (572,378) (664,279)
BRES SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 354,364 196,416 199,411 200,210 203,321
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